ACCF/AHA Expert Consensus Document

ACCF/AHA 2007 Clinical Expert Consensus Document on Coronary Artery Calcium Scoring by Computed Tomography in Global Cardiovascular Risk Assessment and in Evaluation of Patients With Chest Pain

A Report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation Clinical Expert Consensus Task Force (ACCF/AHA Writing Committee to Update the 2000 Expert Consensus Document on Electron Beam Computed Tomography)

Developed in Collaboration With the Society of Atherosclerosis Imaging and Prevention and the Society of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography

WRITING COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Philip Greenland, MD, FACC, FAHA, Chair; Robert O. Bonow, MD, FACC, FAHA*; Bruce H. Brundage, MD, MACC, FAHA; Matthew J. Budoff, MD, FACC, FAHA†; Mark J. Eisenberg, MD, MPH, FACC; Scott M. Grundy, MD, PhD; Michael S. Lauer, MD, FACC, FAHA; Wendy S. Post, MD, MS, FACC; Paolo Raggi, MD, FACC‡; Rita F. Redberg, MD, MSC, FACC, FAHA*; George P. Rodgers, MD, FACC; Leslee J. Shaw, PhD; Allen J. Taylor, MD, FACC, FAHA; William S. Weintraub, MD, FACC

TASK FORCE MEMBERS

Robert A. Harrington, MD, FACC, Chair;

Jonathan Abrams, MD, FACC§; Jeffrey L. Anderson, MD, FACC; Eric R. Bates, MD, FACC; Mark J. Eisenberg, MD, MPH, FACC; Cindy L. Grines, MD, FACC; Mark A. Hlatky, MD, FACC; Robert C. Lichtenberg, MD, FACC; Jonathan R. Lindner, MD, FACC; Gerald M. Pohost, MD, FACC, FAHA; Richard S. Schofield, MD, FACC; Samuel J. Shubrooks, Jr, MD, FACC; James H. Stein, MD, FACC; Cynthia M. Tracy, MD, FACC; Robert A. Vogel, MD, FACC¶; Deborah J. Wesley, RN, BSN

© 2007 by the American College of Cardiology Foundation and the American Heart Association, Inc.

Circulation is available at http://www.circulationaha.org

DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA..107.181425

^{*}American Heart Association representative.

Society of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography representative.

^{\$}Society of Atherosclerosis Imaging and Prevention representative.

[§]Former Task Force Member during the writing effort.

[¶]Immediate Past Chair.

This document was approved by the American College of Cardiology Board of Trustees in September 2006 and by the American Heart Association Science Advisory and Coordinating Committee in November 2006.

When this document is cited, the American College of Cardiology and the American Heart Association request that the following citation format be used: Greenland P, Bonow RO, Brundage BH, Budoff MJ, Eisenberg MJ, Grundy SM, Lauer MS, Post WS, Raggi P, Redberg RF, Rodgers GP, Shaw LJ, Taylor AJ, Weintraub WS. ACCF/AHA 2007 clinical expert consensus document on coronary artery calcium scoring by computed tomography in global cardiovascular risk assessment and in evaluation of patients with chest pain: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation Clinical Expert Consensus Task Force (ACCF/AHA Writing Committee to Update the 2000 Expert Consensus Document on Electron-Beam Computed Tomography). *Circulation*. 2007;115:402–426.

This article has been copublished in the January 23, 2007, issue of the Journal of the American College of Cardiology.

Copies: This document is available on the World Wide Web sites of the American College of Cardiology (www.acc.org) and the American Heart Association (www.americanheart.org). For copies of this document, please contact Elsevier Inc Reprint Department, fax 212-633-3820, e-mail reprints@elsevier.com. To purchase *Circulation* reprints: Up to 999 copies, call 800-611-6083 (US only) or fax 413-665-2671; 1000 or more copies, call 410-528-4121, fax 410-528-4264, or e-mail kelle.ramsay@wolterskluwer.com.

Permissions: Multiple copies, modification, alteration, enhancement, and/or distribution of this document are not permitted without the express permission of the American Heart Association. Instructions for obtaining permission are located at: http://www.americanheart.org/presenter.jhtml?identifier_4431. A link to the "Permission Request Form" appears on the right side of the page.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Preamble
Introduction
Consensus Statement Method
Introduction to CAC Measurement
Role of Risk Assessment in Cardiovascular Medicine
Matching Intensity of Intervention With Severity of Risk
Current Approaches to Global Risk Assessment and to Assessment of Incremental Risk Using New Tests
Risk Assessment for Coronary Heart Disease in Asymptomatic Populations
Prognosis by Coronary Artery Calcium Measurements
Theoretical Relationship Between Coronary Calcification and CHD Events
Approaches to Technology Assessment in CHD Screening
Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses
Data Quality Issues
Inclusion Criteria and Endpoint Definitions for the Present Analysis
Prognostic Value of CAC Scores From Published Reports From 2003–2005
Independent Prognostic Value of CAC Scores Over Cardiac Risk Factors
Predictive Accuracy in Patients With an Intermediate FRS
Future Research Needs
Summary
Role of CAC Scoring in Assessment of Symptomatic Patients
Diagnosis of Coronary Stenosis in Patients With Possible CHD by CAC
Comparison With Other Tests for CHD Diagnosis .413
Exercise ECG Test413
Myocardial Perfusion Imaging and Stress Echocardiography414
Other Uses of CAC Measurement in Symptomatic Persons

Summary
Use of Coronary CT for Assessment of Progression or Regression of Coronary Atherosclerosis
Biologic Relevance of Coronary Atherosclerosis Progression
Accuracy of Serial Coronary Calcium Assessments
Prognostic Relevance of CAC Score Changes415
Modification of CAC Progression
Summary and Implications416
Cost-Effectiveness of Coronary Calcium Scoring for Risk Assessment of Cardiac Death or MI416
Summary and Conclusion417
Special Considerations
CAC Scores and Gender
Epidemiology
Risk Assessment
Summary
Ethnicity
Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD) and End-Stage Renal Disease (ESRD)
Diabetes
Incidental Findings in Patients Undergoing CAC Testing
Summary and Final Conclusions
References
Appendix 1
Appendix 2

Preamble

This document has been developed as a Clinical Expert Consensus Document (CECD), by the American College of Cardiology Foundation (ACCF) and the American Heart Association (AHA) in collaboration with the Society of Atherosclerosis Imaging and Prevention (SAIP) and Society of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography (SCCT). It is intended to provide a perspective on the current state of the role of coronary artery calcium (CAC) scoring by fast computed tomography in clinical practice. Clinical Expert Consensus Documents are intended to inform practitioners, payers, and other interested parties of the opinion of the ACCF and AHA concerning evolving areas of clinical practice and/or technologies that are widely available or new to the practice community. Topics chosen for coverage by expert consensus documents are so designed because the evidence base, the experience with technology, and/or the clinical practice are not considered sufficiently well developed to be evaluated by the formal American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association (ACC/AHA) Practice Guidelines process. Often the topic is the subject of considerable ongoing investigation. Thus, the reader should view the CECD as the best attempt of the ACC and AHA to inform and guide clinical practice in areas where rigorous evidence may not yet be available or the evidence to date is not widely accepted. When feasible, CECDs include indications or contraindications. Some topics covered by CECDs will be addressed subsequently by the ACC/AHA Practice Guidelines Committee.

The Task Force on Clinical Expert Consensus Documents makes every effort to avoid any actual or potential conflicts of interest that might arise as a result of an outside relationship or personal interest of a member of the writing panel. Specifically, all members of the writing panel are asked to provide disclosure statements of all such relationships that might be perceived as real or potential conflicts of interest to inform the writing effort. These statements are reviewed by the parent task force, reported orally to all members of the writing panel at the first meeting, and updated as changes occur. The relationships with industry information for writing committee members and peer reviewers are published in the appendices of the document.

> Robert A. Harrington, MD, FACC Chair, ACCF Task Force on Clinical Expert Consensus Documents

Introduction

The Writing Committee consisted of acknowledged experts in the field of coronary artery disease. In addition to members of ACCF and AHA, the Writing Committee included representatives from the SAIP and SCCT. Representation by an outside organization does not necessarily imply endorsement. The document was reviewed by four official representatives from the ACCF, and AHA; organizational review by the SAIP and SCCT, as well as 14 content reviewers. This document was approved for publication by the governing bodies of ACCF and AHA in September 2006. In addition, the governing boards of the SAIP and SCCT reviewed and formally endorsed this document. This document will be considered current until the Task Force on CECDs revises or withdraws it from publication.

Consensus Statement Method

This statement builds on a previous ACC/AHA Expert Consensus Document published in 2000 that focused on electron beam computed tomography (CT) for diagnosis and prognosis of coronary artery disease (1). In preparing the present document, the Writing Committee began with the previous report as a basis for its deliberations and subsequent literature review. In considering the current status of research on CAC measurement and its role in clinical practice, the Expert Panel concluded that the majority of the research on CAC measurement in the past 5 years has focused on 2 areas of clinical interest: 1) Risk assessment in the asymptomatic patient, for the primary purpose of modifying and potentially improving selection of patients for risk reducing therapies, and 2) Use of CAC measurement in symptomatic patients as a means of selecting patients who might require subsequent hospitalization or additional diagnostic or invasive procedures. The Writing Committee also recognized that the AHA was in the process of completing a scientific statement on assessment of coronary artery disease by CT (2), and thus this Writing Committee's attention was focused on evaluating clinical aspects of CAC measurement rather than on technical issues that are covered in the AHA statement (2). Also, the Writing Committee is aware that ACCF has recently published appropriateness criteria using approaches that differ somewhat from those used in developing this Consensus Document. Therefore, readers should be aware that there may be slight differences in language used in this document and the Appropriateness Criteria for Cardiac Computed Tomography and Magnetic Resonance (3) document.

At its first meeting, each member of this ACCF/AHA Writing Committee indicated any relationship with industry. Relevant conflicts of the Writing Committee and peer reviewers are reported in Appendixes 1 and 2, respectively. The next step in the development of this document was to obtain a complete literature review from the Griffith Resource Library at the ACC concerning CAC measurement by fast CT methods from 1998 through early 2005 (National Library of Medicine's Elhill System). Additional relevant prior or subsequently published references have also been identified by personal contacts of the Writing Committee members, and substantial efforts were made to identify all relevant manuscripts that were currently in press. At the first meeting, members of the Writing Committee were given assignments to provide descriptions and analyses of CAC measurement for identifying and modifying coronary event risk in the asymptomatic patient, for modifying the clinical care and outcomes of symptomatic patients suspected of having coronary artery disease (CAD), and for understanding the role of CAC measurement in selected patient subgroups. Each individual contributor to these parts of the document had his or her initial full written presentation critiqued by all other members of this Writing Committee. Outside peer review was also undertaken before the document was finalized.

Considerable discussion among the group focused on the best and most proper way to assess clinical appropriateness of tests such as CAC measurement since there have been no

clinical trials to evaluate the impact of CAC testing on clinical outcomes in either symptomatic or asymptomatic patients. The Writing Committee agreed uniformly that the ideal assessment of cardiac tests would require clinical trials that utilize important patient outcomes such as improving the quality or quantity of a patient's life. However, recognizing that this standard is not available for CAC measurement, the Committee considered other standards of evidence in reaching a consensus opinion. A minority of the Writing Committee felt that CAC testing could not be advised for any clinical indication until clinical trials were available to show benefit on actual patient outcomes. However, the majority of the Writing Committee felt that this standard of evidence is rarely applied in assessment of cardiac testing appropriateness. Therefore, the majority position presented here reflects the concept that prognostic testing such as CAC measurement can be considered reasonable where there is evidence that the test results can have a meaningful impact on medical decision-making.

Introduction to CAC Measurement

Coronary arterial calcification is part of the development of atherosclerosis, occurs almost exclusively in atherosclerotic arteries, and is absent in the normal vessel wall (4-6). Coronary artery calcification occurs in small amounts in the early lesions of atherosclerosis that appear in the second and third decades of life, but it is found more frequently in advanced lesions and in older age. Although there is a positive correlation between the site and the amount of coronary artery calcium and the percent of coronary luminal narrowing at the same anatomic site, the relation is nonlinear and has large confidence limits (7). The relation of arterial calcification, like that of angiographic coronary artery stenosis, to the probability of plaque rupture is unknown (8,9). There is no known relationship between vulnerable plaque and coronary artery calcification (10). Although radiographically detected coronary artery calcium can provide an estimate of total coronary plaque burden, due to arterial remodeling, calcium does not concentrate exclusively at sites with severe coronary artery stenoses (11).

Electron-beam computed tomography (EBCT) and multi-detector computed tomography (MDCT) are the primary fast CT methods for CAC measurement at this time. Both technologies employ thin slice CT imaging, using fast scan speeds to reduce motion artifact. Thirty to 40 adjacent axial scans usually are obtained. A calcium scoring system has been devised based on the X-ray attenuation coefficient, or CT number measured in Hounsfield units, and the area of calcium deposits (12). A fast CT study for coronary artery calcium measurement is completed within 10 to 15 min, requiring only a few seconds of scanning time.

Cardiac computed tomography has been used with increasing frequency in the United States and other countries during the past 15 years, initially with the goal of identifying patients at risk of having obstructive coronary artery disease based on the amount of coronary calcium present. However, in the past 5 to 10 years, fast CT methods have been used primarily for 2 purposes: 1) to assist in coronary heart disease (CHD) risk assessment in asymptomatic patients, and 2) to assess the likelihood of the presence of CHD in patients who present with atypical symptoms which could be consistent with myocardial ischemia.

Many technical aspects are relevant to the choice of EBCT versus MDCT, and these are beyond the scope of this document. A related document, recently prepared by the AHA, addresses these important technical issues (2). In contrast, this document focuses on clinical uses of fast CT for CAC measurement and addresses the appropriateness of CAC measurement in defined clinical circumstances.

Role of Risk Assessment in Cardiovascular Medicine

A major focus of this Consensus Document is the role of CAC measurement in cardiovascular risk assessment. Thus, a brief overview of cardiovascular risk assessment is important to provide a frame of reference for the material that follows.

Risk assessment is often regarded as a key first step in the clinical management of cardiovascular risk factors. Risk assessment algorithms, such as those from the Framingham Heart Study in the United States or from the Prospective Cardiovascular Münster (PROCAM) study in Germany, or the European risk prediction system called SCORE (Systemic Coronary Risk Evaluation), are among the most common and widely available for estimating multi-factorial absolute risk in clinical practice (13). Each of these risk assessment algorithms, as most often used, projects 10-year, absolute risk, which can be considered short-term or intermediate-term (not lifetime) risk. These risk projections are often regarded by policy makers and clinicians as useful when selecting the most appropriate candidates for drug therapies intended to reduce risk. Cholesterol and blood pressure guidelines in the United States and elsewhere have followed the principle that the intensity of treatment should be aligned with the severity of a patient's risk (14,15). The rationale behind this balance between treatment intensity and patient risk is that proportional risk reduction and cost-effectiveness analyses indicate that there is greater benefit of drug exposure when the patient's risk is high. It has been considered useful to divide patients into several categories depending on their 10-year risk estimates. Three commonly used categories are high risk, intermediate risk, and low risk. Beginning in 2004, the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) further divided the intermediate-risk category into moderately high risk and moderate risk (16). Table 1 shows the most recent NCEP categories of 10-year absolute risk used to stratify patients for cholesterol-lowering therapy. This classification can be

Table 1.	Absolute	Risk	Categories	According to	National	Cholesterol	Education	Program	Update,	2004
----------	----------	------	------------	--------------	----------	-------------	-----------	---------	---------	------

10-Year Absolute Risk Category	Definition of Category
High risk	CHD*, CHD risk equivalents† including 2+ major risk factors‡ plus a 10-year risk for hard CHD greater than 20%§
Moderately high risk	2 + major risk factors‡ plus a 10-year risk for hard CHD 10% to 20%
Moderate risk	2 + major risk factors plus a 10-year risk for hard CHD less than 10%
Lower risk	0 to 1 major risk factor (10-year risk for hard CHD usually less than 10%)§

*CHD includes history of myocardial infarction, unstable angina, stable angina, coronary artery procedures (angioplasty or by-pass surgery), or evidence of clinically significant myocardial ischemia. †CHD risk equivalents include clinical manifestations of non-coronary forms of atherosclerotic disease (peripheral arterial disease, abdominal aortic aneurysm, and carotid artery disease [transient ischemic attacks or stroke of carotid origin or greater than 50% obstruction of a carotid artery]), diabetes, and 2+ risk factors with 10-year risk for hard CHD less than 20%. ‡Major risk factors include cigarette smoking, hypertension (BP greater than or equal to 140/90 mm Hg or on antihypertensive medication), low HDL cholesterol (less than 40 mg/dL), family history of premature CHD (CHD in male first-degree relative less than 55 years; CHD in female first-degree relative less than 65 years), and age (men greater than or equal to 45 years; women greater than or equal to 55 years). §Almost all people with 0 to 1 risk factor have a 10-year risk less than 10%, and 10-year risk assessment in people with 0 to 1 risk factor have a 10-year risk less than 10%, and 0-year risk assessment in people with 0 to 1 risk factor is thus not necessary. Modified with permission from Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Merz CN, et al. Implications of recent clinical trials for the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III guidelines. Circulation 2004;110:227–39 (16).

BP = blood pressure; CHD = coronary heart disease; HDL = high-density lipoprotein.

applied to other CHD risk reduction therapies as well, such as blood pressure lowering.

Matching Intensity of Intervention With Severity of Risk

As previously noted, a principle of cardiovascular disease prevention that is generally accepted is that intensity of intervention for an individual (or population) should be adjusted to the level of baseline risk (17). The goals of this principle are to optimize efficacy, safety, and costeffectiveness of the intervention. The concept is most often applied to higher-risk individuals who are potential candidates for risk-reducing drugs; but it also is an important consideration for lower risk individuals either in clinical practice or for public health strategies. For higher risk individuals, intensity of intervention is best adjusted to absolute short-term risk; for lower risk individuals, relative risk remains an important consideration because a high relative risk generally translates into a high absolute risk in the long term. This latter concept is most relevant to younger men and middle-aged men and women, whereas in older men and women, the Framingham Risk Score generally applies.

Current Approaches to Global Risk Assessment and to Assessment of Incremental Risk Using New Tests

In current clinical practice, in accordance with a number of guidelines (14,15), it is common that the first step in clinical risk assessment is to identify any high-risk conditions that obviate the need for further risk assessment; these mainly include established atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) and diabetes (see Table 1, High risk). If none of these high-risk conditions is present, the second step is to identify the presence of major risk factors (also listed in Table 1). If 2 or more major risk factors are present, one should then estimate the 10-year likelihood for development of major coronary events or total cardiovascular events. In the United States, the most-commonly used and most extensively validated quantitative assessment is provided by the multivariable scoring system of the Framingham Heart Study. The Framingham algorithm for "hard CHD" events including myocardial infarction and cardiac death is available through the National Cholesterol Education Program website (http://hin.nhlbi.nih.gov/atpiii/calculator.asp). Framingham scoring includes the following major risk factors: gender, total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, systolic blood pressure (or on treatment for hypertension), cigarette smoking, and age. PROCAM scoring employs a somewhat different set of risk factors: gender, age, low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, triglycerides, systolic blood pressure, cigarette smoking, family history, and presence or absence of diabetes (http://www.chd-taskforce.com/). The European SCORE algorithm uses risk factors similar to the Framingham Score.

For each of these risk assessment tools, the most powerful risk factors are age and gender. The other risk factors can be examined for their additive predictive power by determining increments in the area under the curve of the receiveroperating characteristic (ROC). The area under the ROC curve is also known as the C-statistic. An ROC analysis plots sensitivity (fraction of true positives) versus 1specificity (fraction of false positives) of a risk factor for predicting events. ROC curves are used to evaluate the discrimination of a prediction, and often, the predictive power of a set of risk factors. If a given set of risk factors predicted the development of cardiovascular events perfectly, the curve would reach 100% in the upper left corner (100% sensitivity and 100% specificity), that is, all true positives and no false positives. The area under the curve would be 100% (C-statistic = 1.0). A random and useless predictor would give a straight line at 45 degrees (C-statistic = 0.5) since this would define a test where true positive rate and false positive rate are equal to one another at every possible cutoff value. In the evaluation of additional tests, added to the basic set of Framingham risk factors, the area under the curve would increase when the test provides incremental discrimination. The Framingham algorithm applied to the Framingham population generally gives a C-statistic of approximately 0.8, meaning that the probability is 80% that patients who experience CHD events will have a higher risk score than patients who did not experience an event. An important but unresolved issue is whether discovery and addition of new biochemical risk factors or imaging markers to Framingham or PROCAM algorithms will increase the C-statistic. In considering the role of CAC measurement for risk assessment, a key issue is whether discriminative ability is improved, often as judged by an increase in the C-statistic compared to that derived from risk factors alone.

Risk Assessment for Coronary Heart Disease in Asymptomatic Populations

Prognosis by Coronary Artery Calcium Measurements

In the prior ACC/AHA expert consensus document published in 2000, only 3 reports on the prognostic capability of CAC scoring were available to develop risk assessment indications in asymptomatic individuals (1). At the time, the ACC/AHA document concluded that the body of evidence using CAC measurement to predict CHD events was insufficient. A critical component to that recommendation was that the independent prognostic value of CAC had not been established. In a separate but similar evaluation using data published through 2002, the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) concluded that limited clinical outcomes data were available and recommended against routine screening for the detection of silent but severe CAD or for the prediction of CHD events in low risk, asymptomatic adults (see http://www.ahrq.gov/ downloads/pub/prevent/pdfser/chdser.pdf).

In the past several years, however, a number of publications have reported on the incremental prognostic value of CAC in large series of patients including asymptomatic self-referred and population cohorts (18–22). A major rationale for the current document is the need for an update including recent publications regarding CAC as it relates to the estimation of CHD death or nonfatal myocardial infarction (MI). Although earlier evidence included the use of "soft" endpoints including coronary revascularization as a primary outcome, more recent data are available on the estimation of CHD death or MI (18–22). Models predicting "hard" cardiac events (i.e., CHD death or MI) are less subjective and less likely to overestimate the predictive accuracy of CAC scoring (23).

Theoretical Relationship Between Coronary Calcification and CHD Events

Atherosclerotic plaque proceeds through progressive stages where instability and rupture can be followed by calcification, perhaps to provide stability to an unstable lesion (8). As the occurrence of calcification reflects an advanced stage of plaque development, some researchers have proposed that the correlation between coronary calcification and acute coronary events may be suboptimal based largely on angiographic series (11). In order to understand this apparent conflict between the stability of a calcified lesion and CHD event rates, one must recognize the association between atherosclerotic plaque extent and more frequent calcified and non-calcified plaque (24). That is, patients who have calcified plaque are also more likely to have non-calcified or "soft" plaque that is prone to rupture and acute coronary thrombosis (24). It is the co-occurrence of calcified and non-calcified plaque that provides the means for estimating acute coronary events. Furthermore, although CAC detection cannot localize a stenotic lesion or one that is prone to rupture, CAC scoring may be able to globally define a patient's CHD event risk by virtue of its strong association with total coronary atherosclerotic disease burden, as shown by correlation with pathologic specimens (1,24).

Approaches to Technology Assessment in CHD Screening

A major criterion utilized in many technology assessments has been that a screening test must have a high level of evidence on the effect of screening on actual health outcomes, such as fewer events, extended life, or better quality of life. This type of analysis requires research detailing an improvement in either quantity or quality-of-life years as a result of the screening procedure. An example of a high level of such evidence was recently published on screening for abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA) (25). Using this example, a meta-analysis reported reduced mortality in randomized trials of AAA screening. These results allowed for favorable support of AAA screening by the USPSTF resulting in a class B recommendation (i.e., evidence includes consistent results from well-designed, well-conducted studies in representative populations that directly assess effects on health outcomes) (26). Lack of similar controlled clinical trial evidence played a central role in the conclusion by the USPSTF not to support CHD screening using CAC measurement (see http://www.ahrq.gov/downloads/pub/ prevent/pdfser/chdser.pdf).

Although no studies have shown a net effect on health outcomes of CAC scoring (27), at least one randomized trial is nearing completion (Early Identification of Subclinical Atherosclerosis using NoninvasivE Imaging Research [EISNER]). However, the concept of matching treatment intensity to the degree of cardiovascular risk suggests that efforts to identify the most accurate approach to risk stratification is an initial and critical step that should aid in the best selection of treatment options for patients at risk for cardiovascular disease.

Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses

In the sections that follow, we review recent evidence on the prognostic value of CAC and include data from one recent systematic review. A comprehensive data synthesis on this subject was published by Pletcher et al. (23) evaluating the prognostic value of CAC from 4 studies published through 2002 meeting quality-based inclusion criteria. Articles were considered for that meta-analysis if they evaluated the prognostic value of CAC in asymptomatic individuals and also presented data on CHD events. Based on a random-effects model, the summary relative risk ratios were 2.1 (for

Criteria	Points Assigned by Definition	Kondos	Greenland	Arad	Taylor	Vliegenthart	LaMonte
1. Retrospective vs. prospective study	1 = Retrospective 2 = Prospective	1	2	2	2	2	1
2. Potential for referral bias	0 = Clinically referred patients 1 = Unselected cohort 2 = Population sample	0	1	1	1	2	0
3. Reporting CAC by CHD death or MI	1 = No 2 = Yes	2	2	1	2	2	2
4. Reporting of results by gender or ethnicity	0 = No 1 = Gender only 2 = Ethnicity only 3 = Both	1	0	0	1	0	1
5. Sample size greater than 1000	0 = No 1 = Yes	1	1	1	1	1	1
6. Potential for limited challenge	 No reporting of CAC outcomes in low- to high-risk global risk scores Reporting of CAC outcomes in low- to high-risk global risk scores 	1	2	1	2	2	1
7. Risk factor reporting	 1 = Historical only 2 = Measured in subset 3 = Measured in all subjects 	1	3	2	3	3	1
8. Covariate or risk-adjusted outcomes	Risk Factors	1	2	1	2	2	1
Total score (total possible = 16)		8	13	8	14	14	8

Table 2. Quality Assessment Criteria for Evaluation of Reports on the Prognostic Value of CAC

CAC = coronary artery calcification; CHD = coronary heart disease; MI = myocardial infarction.

CAC score of 1 to 100) and as high as 10 (for CAC greater than 400) as compared to patients with a score of 0 (p less than 0.0001). This meta-analysis (23) offers support for the concept that there is a linear relationship between CAC and CHD events, but the analysis did not address whether CAC measurement is incremental to Framingham Risk Score (FRS) for CHD risk prediction.

Data Quality Issues

A lack of rigor in study methodology was a focus of the 2000 ACC document (1). A detailed review of the quality of the published data on the prognostic value of CAC was also published by Pletcher et al. (23) noting significant heterogeneity in study quality with often a lack of blinded outcome adjudication, greater use of categorical or historical risk factors, and variable tomographic slice thickness (3 vs. 6 mm) contributing to an overestimation of the relative risk of events by CAC measurements. For example, the relative risk ratio was significantly higher for CAC of 101 to 400 (p = 0.01) and greater than 400 (p = 0.004) when self-reported or historical risk factors were employed in a predictive model as compared with measured risk factor data. The clinical implication of this distinction is that physicians interpreting these results may overvalue CAC scores as substantially more predictive than traditional risk factors.

Evaluation of more recent publications indicates that some of the important methodological limitations of earlier reports have been addressed. Notably, more recent publications report the independent prognostic value of CAC in multivariable models including <u>measured</u> risk factor data (18,19,22). Larger sample sizes have also resulted in improved precision in risk prediction models. However, issues of selection or referral bias when using patient cohorts remain pertinent and are likely to have resulted in an overestimation of risk when based on clinical cohorts as compared with population samples (20,22). It is important to recognize that relative risk ratios from patient cohorts have generally been higher than from studies conducted in population samples even when the overall direction of the prognostic findings has been concordant.

Inclusion Criteria and Endpoint Definitions for the Present Analysis

The current document focuses on the ability of CAC scoring to estimate CHD death or MI. This approach allows for a comparison of the expected annual event rates based on the FRS. The FRS estimates that annual rates of CHD death or MI are less than 1.0% for low risk, 1.0% to 2.0% for intermediate risk (Table 1), and greater than 2.0% for high risk. When multiple publications have been reported from the same cohort study (1,4,5,33–36), we employ here only the most recent report in the current analysis (19,20).

The inclusion criteria for this analysis are: 1) data not previously reported in the 2000 document (1); 2) published series on the prognostic value of CAC in asymptomatic cohorts reported since 2002; 3) endpoint data must be reported on the outcome of CHD death or MI over a specified follow-up time period (usually within 3 to 5 years);



Figure 1. Meta-Analysis on the Prognostic Value of CACS

Relative risk (RR) ratios (95% confidence intervals [CI]) in six published reports (18-22,28). CACS = coronary artery calcification score.

and 4) data extraction must allow for the calculation of univariable relative risk ratios and must also include riskadjustment for traditional cardiac risk factors (e.g., age, gender, cholesterol, hypertension, etc.) or the FRS.

Two committee members (AJT, LJS) evaluated the quality of each included report with the results of this analysis being included in Table 2. The quality assessment criteria included: 1) documentation of prospective data collection; 2) inclusion of self-referred patient series or from a population sample; 3) reporting of CHD events; 4) reporting of outcome data by gender and ethnicity; 5) sample size greater than 1000 individuals; 6) avoiding potential for limited challenge (i.e., an inclusion of very low to very high-risk patients resulting in a wide spread in the outcome results) by not reporting data within strata of clinical risk; 7) reporting measured versus historical or self-reported risk factor data; and 8) reporting univariable and multivariable prognostic models (i.e., ascertaining the incremental value of CAC scores). A review of the highlighted reports reveals that all studies identified for inclusion were of at least moderate-high quality.

Prognostic Value of CAC Scores From Published Reports From 2003–2005

Several recent cohorts have been published including prospective observational registries in predominantly male, younger and middle-aged (18), unselected (19) and olderaged, higher risk (20) asymptomatic cohorts. A self-referred patient series of 8855 asymptomatic adults was also included in this analysis (21). A recent population sample was also published and included 1795 subjects greater than or equal to 55 years of age who were prospectively enrolled in the Rotterdam coronary calcium study (22). Finally, the prognostic value of CAC scores was recently reported from a large series of 10 746 men and women aged 22 to 96 years who underwent a preventive health examination at the Cooper Clinic in Dallas, Texas (28).

Using a random-effects model, an analytical approach frequently applied to observational data such as that reported in the CAC series, Figure 1 reports on the univariable and summary (weighted average) relative risk ratios from 6 recently published reports in 27 622 patients (n = 395 CHD death or MI). This figure reports the summary relative risk ratio of 4.3 (95% confidence interval [CI] = 3.5 to 5.2) for any measurable calcium as compared with a low-risk CAC (generally using a score of 0) (p less than 0.0001). These data imply that the 3 to 5 year risk of any detectable calcium elevates a patient's CHD risk of events by nearly 4-fold (p less than 0.0001). Importantly, patients without detectable calcium (or a CAC score = 0) have a very low rate of CHD death or MI (0.4%) over 3 to 5 years of observation (n = 49 events/11 815 individuals).

As can be further seen in Figure 1, considerable variability existed in the relative risk ratios across the 6 reports which can, in part, be attributed to variability in the grouping of CAC scores and in the representation of younger individuals and women within each of the risk subsets. In the most



Figure 2. RR Ratios According to Level of Risk for CACS, From Average Risk to Very High Risk

Average risk includes Arad et al. (19), Greenland et al. (20), LaMonte et al. (28), and Taylor et al. (18). Moderate risk includes Arad et al. (19), Greenland et al. (20), LaMonte et al. (28), Taylor et al. (18), and Vliegenthart et al. (22). High risk includes Arad et al. (19), Greenland et al. (21), LaMonte et al. (22), LaMonte et al. (28), Taylor et al. (18), and Vliegenthart et al. (22). High risk includes Arad et al. (19), Greenland et al. (20), Kondos et al. (21), LaMonte et al. (28), and Vliegenthart et al. (22). Very high risk includes Vliegenthart et al. (22). *Low-risk N often includes multiple comparisons from a single series (e.g., Taylor CACS of 1 to 9 and 10 to 44 would use the same referent low-risk group comparison). CACS = coronary artery calcification score; Cl = confidence interval; RR = relative risk.

recent report from the Cooper Clinic, different CAC ranges in risk groupings were applied for women and men (28). Moreover, both the Walter Reed and Cooper Clinic series evaluated younger asymptomatic cohorts while the Rotterdam study limited enrollment to individuals greater than or equal to 55 years of age (18,22).

The summary relative risk ratios in Figure 2 reveal an incremental relationship where higher CAC scores are associated with higher event rates and higher relative risk ratios. In this figure, a mild risk CAC score (with scores ranging from 1 to 112) was associated with an elevation in CHD death or MI risk with a summary relative risk ratio of 1.9 (95% CI = 1.3 to 2.8, p = 0.001). This mild risk grouping was more often reported in younger populations undergoing preventive health screenings (18,28).

With even higher CAC scores, the 3 to 5 year event rates increased substantially. For scores ranging from 100 to 400, the summary relative risk ratio was 4.3 (95% CI = 3.1 to 6.1) when compared to patients with no detectable coronary calcium (p less than 0.0001). For the high (CAC scores of 400 to 1000) and very high (greater than 1000) risk CAC scores, pooled CHD death or MI rates were 4.6% and 7.1% at 3 to 5 years after CAC testing, resulting in relative risk ratios of 7.2 (95% CI = 5.2 to 9.9, p less than 0.0001) and 10.8 (95% CI = 4.2 to 27.7, p less than 0.0001) when compared to the low-risk group (CAC score = 0) as reference.

Independent Prognostic Value of CAC Scores Over Cardiac Risk Factors

A necessary criterion for establishing a high degree of predictive accuracy for CAC measurements is the establishment of the independent contribution of CAC above and beyond risk factor data alone (29). Recent reports have included univariable and multivariable models that have evaluated the independent contribution of CAC in models evaluating risk factors or the FRS (Table 3). From the St. Francis Heart Study, measured risk factor data were available in 1293 of the total enrolled cohort of 4903 asymptomatic individuals. In univariable (p less than 0.0001) and multivariable (p = 0.01) models estimating CHD events at 4.3 years of follow-up, CAC scores were independently predictive of CHD outcome above and beyond both historical and measured risk factors (19). The CAC scores were also predictive of outcome in a multivariable model containing high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (18), similar to a previous report by Park et al. (30). Several reports have also evaluated the independent prognostic contribution of CAC

Table 3. Recent Published Observational Cohort Studies Evaluating the IndependentPrognostic Value of Coronary Calcium Measurements in Published Reports From 2003 to 2005

Risk			Historical or Measured Risk			Model Controlling for Additional Variables Besides
Subset	Year	N	Factor Data	Univariable RR*	Multivariable RR*	That Contained in the FRS:
Kondos	2003	8855	Historical	5.8, p = 0.001†	3.9, p = 0.01	
Greenland	2004	1461	Measured	3.9, p < 0.001	1.3 , <i>p</i> < 0.001‡	
Arad	2005	1293	Measured	26.2, <i>p</i> < 0.0001	NR, $p = 0.01$	HsCRP
Taylor	2005	1639	Measured	NR, $p < 0.0001$	11.8 , <i>p</i> = 0.002	Family history of CHD
Vliegenthart	2005	1795	Measured	8.2, p < 0.01	3.2-10.3, p = 0.03	Family history of MI and BMI
LaMonte	2005	10 746	Historical	1.6 (men) and 1.3 (women), $p < 0.0001$	NR§	

*For RR, a linear trend is presented if not indicated otherwise. Kondos: for any detectable CAC in men only; Greenland: for CAC greater than 300 versus CAC = 0 for univariable RR, evaluated as a continuous measure in the multivariable model; Arad: univariable RR is for score greater than or equal to 400, multivariable RR was NR; Taylor: univariable RR was NR, multivariable risk ratio is in men only and for any CAC score versus CAC = 0; Vliegenthart: multivariable is across a range of CAC from 101 to greater than 1000; LaMonte: risk factors measured in a clinical subset of 3619 subjects; univariable reported separately for men (1.6) and women (1.3), multivariable RR were NR but stated to be similar to age-adjusted models. †For men only. ‡For intermediate to high FRS. **§***p* for risk adjustment was not specified but noted as significant.

BMI = body mass index; CAC = coronary artery calcification; CHD = coronary heart disease; FRS = Framingham Risk Score; HsCRP = high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; MI = myocardial infarction; NR = not reported; RR = relative risk.

				Unadjusted Model Including	Multivariable Model Including	Additional Factors Not
Risk Subset	Year	N	Relative Risk (95% CI) for High Risk CAC	CAC as a Predictor of CHD Death or MI	CAC + FRS and Other Novel Risk Markers As Predictors of CHD Death or MI	Novel Risk Markers Included in the Multivariable Model
Greenland	2004	1461	_	+++	+	_
Arad	2005	1293	_	+++	++	HsCRP
Taylor	2005	1639	4.8 (1.1-20.4)	+++	++	Family history of CHD
/liegenthart	2005	1795	3.9 (1.4-11.1)	++	+	Family history of MI and body mass index
LaMonte	2005	3619	15.9 (2.2-114.7)	+++	+	

Table 4. Predictive Accuracy of CAC for Estimation of CHD Death or Myocardial Infarction Including Unadjusted and Risk-Adjusted Multivariable Models Controlling for the Framingham Risk Score (FRS) and Other Risk Markers

+ Modestly strong predictor. ++ Moderately strong predictor. +++ Strong predictor.

CAC = coronary artery calcification; CHD = coronary heart disease; CI = confidence interval; HsCRP = high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; MI = myocardial infarction.

in multivariable models that controlled for other cardiovascular risk markers, including risk factors not in the FRS, such as a family history of premature CHD (18,22) or body mass index (22) (Table 4).

Predictive Accuracy in Patients With an Intermediate FRS

The concept of Bayesian theory provides a framework to evaluate the expected relationship between the predictive value of CAC score in individuals with low- to high-risk FRS. As defined by Bayesian theory, a test's post-test likelihood of events is partially dependent upon a patient's pretest risk estimate. Thus, for patients with a low risk FRS very few events would be expected during follow-up and the resulting post-test risk estimate for patients with an abnormal CAC score would be expected to remain low. Several reports have noted that the use of CAC score in low-risk populations is not useful in modifying prediction of outcome (20,21). Greenland et al. (20) reported that a high CAC score was predictive of high risk among patients with an intermediate-high FRS greater than 10% (p less than 0.001) but not in patients with a low risk FRS (i.e., score less than 10%). In this report from the South Bay Heart Watch study, only 1 CHD event was noted in 98 patients with a low risk FRS. This report demonstrates the importance of considering the underlying hazard in selecting optimal cohorts for whom CAC testing will be of greater value.

In addition, the recent data provide support for the concept that use of CAC testing is most useful in terms of incremental prognostic value for populations with an intermediate FRS (29). In a secondary analysis of patients with an intermediate FRS from 4 reports (19,20,22,28), annual CHD death or MI rates were 0.4%, 1.3%, and 2.4% for each tertile of CAC score where scores ranged from less than 100, 100 to 399, and greater than or equal to 400, respectively (19,20) (Fig. 3). From this analysis, intermediate-risk FRS patients with a CAC score greater than or equal to 400 (Fig. 3) would be expected to have event rates that place them in the CHD risk equivalent

status (event rate greater than or equal to 20% over 10 years (31).

Future Research Needs

The vast majority of prognostic evidence has been reported using an evaluation of risk stratification with absolute measurements of the CAC score. However, some earlier reports applied gender- and age- percentile rankings that may have greater intuitive appeal and understanding for patient education. As such, the percentile rankings have the potential for greater clinical applicability and, therefore, utilization. Only one report has evaluated the comparative predictive ability of absolute CAC scores versus the percentile scores. These investigators noted an improvement in risk detection using percentile ranks (32). An advantage to the use of percentiles is that it has been integrated into the NCEP guidelines where more aggressive care was recommended for patients with a 75th percentile ranking or higher (31). Thus, more information on percentile rankings for prognosis is needed; however, very few research groups have consistently reported CAC data according to percentile ranking. In addition, in our review of the current published evidence, the relative risk ratio for a high risk CAC measurement is higher for clinical registries as compared with population studies (relative risk = 19.3 vs. 5.0); suggesting an overestimation in risk due to selection bias (18-20,22). Data from the ongoing Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) should allow for more accurate risk estimation of CAC scores as based on a prospectivelyderived large population sample (33).

Summary

Since 2000, when the last ACC CECD report on CAC measurement was published, there has been growing evidence on the use of CAC in better-studied cohorts of patients and asymptomatic individuals. CAC scoring has an increasingly high level of quality evidence on its role in risk stratification of asymptomatic patients. Recent evidence is supportive that measurement of CAC is predictive of CHD death or MI at 3 to 5 years. Current evidence also suggests



Rate shown is by tertile of the Agatston score in patients at intermediate coronary heart disease (CHD) event risk using definitions of an intermediate Framingham Risk Score (FRS) or greater than 1 cardiac risk factor. Intermediate FRS was defined as follows: Greenland et al. (20) 10% to 20%; Vliegenthart et al. (22) 20%; LaMonte et al. (28), greater than 1 cardiac risk factor; and Arad et al. (19) 10% to 20%. CACS = coronary artery calcium score; MI = myocardial infarction.

that the use of CAC is independently predictive of outcome over and above traditional cardiac risk factors. Published reports have largely been derived from patient cohorts where referral bias is operational resulting in an overestimation of CHD death or MI risk estimates. Upcoming data from the MESA study may be helpful to devise population screening strategies for women and in non-whites. The MESA data will also be useful in validating predictive capability by ethnicity and across a broad age range of asymptomatic people. Data employing direct comparisons of CAC measurement versus other imaging modalities or biomarkers are generally not available.

The consensus of the Committee was that the body of evidence is supportive of recommendations from the USPSTF that unselected screening is of limited clinical value in patients who are at low risk for CHD events, typically estimated using a low FRS less than 1.0% per year (see http://www.ahrq.gov/downloads/pub/prevent/pdfser/ chdser.pdf).

A subset analysis of the predictive accuracy of CAC in patients with an intermediate FRS reveals that for a score greater than or equal to 400, the patient's 10-year CHD risk would achieve risk equivalent status similar to that noted with diabetes or peripheral arterial disease (31). Thus, clinical decision-making could potentially be altered by CAC measurement in patients initially judged to be at intermediate risk (10% to 20% in 10 years).

The accumulating evidence suggests that asymptomatic individuals with an intermediate FRS may be reasonable candidates for CHD testing using CAC as a potential means of modifying risk prediction and altering therapy. On the other hand, there is little to be gained by testing with CAC in patients with a low FRS. Furthermore, patients with a high FRS should be treated aggressively consistent with secondary prevention goals based upon the current NCEP III guidelines and thus should not require additional testing, including CAC scoring, to establish this risk evaluation (31). Additionally, the current CAC literature does not provide support for the concept that high-risk asymptomatic individuals can be safely excluded from medical therapy for CHD even if CAC score is 0.

Role of CAC Scoring in Assessment of Symptomatic Patients

Diagnosis of Coronary Stenosis in Patients With Possible CHD by CAC

The utility of coronary artery calcium measurement in symptomatic patients has been widely studied and discussed in depth in the previous ACC/AHA statement (1). It was also extensively reviewed in the recent American Heart Association Cardiac Imaging Committee Consensus Statement—The Role of Cardiac Imaging in the Clinical Evaluation of Women With Known or Suspected Coronary Artery Disease (34). One conclusion of these reports was that a positive CT study (defined as presence of any CAC) is nearly 100% specific for atheromatous coronary plaque (34,35). Since both obstructive and non-obstructive lesions can have calcification present in the intima, CAC is not specific for obstructive coronary disease.

In the symptomatic patient, CAC has been evaluated as a noninvasive diagnostic technique for detecting obstructive CAD. To define its test characteristics and to compare it with other noninvasive tests, a meta-analysis was performed and published in the previous ACC/AHA consensus statement (1). In the previous meta-analysis, a total of 3683 patients were considered among 16 studies evaluating the diagnostic accuracy of CAC measurement (1). Inclusion criteria were: diagnostic catheterization for patients without prior history of coronary disease or prior cardiac transplantation. Patients were symptomatic and referred to the cardiac catheterization laboratory for diagnosis of obstructive CAD. On average, significant coronary disease (greater than 50% or greater than 70% stenosis by coronary angiography) was reported in 57.2% of the patients. Presence of CAC was reported on average in 65.8% of patients (defined as a score greater than 0 in all but one report). The weighted-average or summary odds were elevated 20-fold with a positive CAC (score greater than 0) (95% CI 4.6 to 87.8). Additional summary odds ratios were also calculated with various anatomic and calcium score cut points. For detection of minimal, greater than 50%, and greater than 70% stenosis at cardiac catheterization, the summary odds increased from 6.8-fold (95% CI 3.0 to 15.6) to 16.4-fold (95% CI 5.1 to 53.1) to 50-fold (95% CI 24.1 to 103.0); that is, the odds of significant coronary disease increased when greater angiographic lesion thresholds were used for significant disease (although the confidence bounds widened). Higher coronary calcium scores increased the likelihood of detecting significant coronary disease (greater than 50% or greater than 70% luminal stenosis). A threshold of detectable calcium or a score greater than 5 was associated with an odds of significant disease of 25.6-fold (95% CI 9.6 to 68.4).

Schmermund et al. (36) examined 291 patients with suspected CHD who underwent risk factor determination as defined by the NCEP, CAC measurement, and clinically indicated coronary angiography. A simple noninvasive index (NI) was constructed as the following: log(e)(LAD score) + log(e)(LCx score) + 2[if diabetic] + 3[if male]. Receiveroperating characteristic curve analysis for this NI yielded an area under the curve of 0.88 ± 0.03 (p less than 0.0001) for separating patients with, versus without, angiographic 3-vessel and/or left main CAD. Various NI cutpoints demonstrated sensitivities from 87% to 97% and specificities from 46% to 74%. Guerci et al. (37) studied 290 men and women undergoing coronary arteriography for clinical indications. A coronary calcium score greater than 80 (Agatston method) was associated with an increased likelihood of any coronary disease regardless of the number of risk factors, and a coronary calcium score greater than or equal to 170 was associated with an increased likelihood of obstructive coronary disease regardless of the number of risk factors (p less than 0.001). Kennedy et al. (35) studied 368 symptomatic patients undergoing cardiac catheterization. By multivariate analysis, only male sex and coronary calcification were significantly related to extent of angiographic disease. Receiver-operating characteristic curve analysis showed that the amount of coronary calcium was a significantly better discriminator of disease than were the standard risk factors. In all three studies, CAC scoring improved diagnostic discrimination over conventional risk factors in

the identification of persons with angiographic coronary disease.

More recently, large multi-center studies have been reported using fast CT for diagnosis of obstructive CAD in symptomatic persons (n = 1851), who underwent coronary angiography for clinical indications. Study prediction models were designed to be continuous, adjusted for age and sex, corrected for verification bias, and independently validated in terms of their incremental diagnostic accuracy. The overall sensitivity was 95%, and specificity was 66% for coronary calcium score to predict obstructive disease on invasive angiography. The logistic regression model exhibited excellent discrimination (receiver operating characteristic curve area of 0.84 \pm 0.02) and calibration (chi-square goodness of fit of 8.95, p = 0.44) (38). Increasing the cut-point for calcification markedly improved the specificity, but decreased the sensitivity. In the same study, increasing the CAC cutpoint to greater than 80 decreased the sensitivity to 79% while increasing the specificity to 72%. In another large study (n = 1764) comparing CAC to angiographic coronary obstructive disease, use of a CAC score greater than 100 resulted in a sensitivity of 95% and a specificity of 79% for the detection of significant obstructive disease by angiography (39). Summing these 2 large studies (n = 3615) leads to an estimated sensitivity of 85%, with a specificity of 75%. There is some concern, due to study design, that these studies (similar to validation of many non-invasive cardiovascular tests) are subject to verification bias, which could raise the sensitivity and lower the specificity. A large study, evaluating consecutive symptomatic persons undergoing cardiac catheterization, addresses this concern. 2115 consecutive symptomatic patients (n = 1404men; mean age = 62, SD \pm 19 years old) with no prior diagnosis of CAD were included in this study. These patients were being referred to the cardiac catheterization laboratory for diagnosis of possible obstructive coronary artery disease, without knowledge of the CAC scan results. The scan result did not influence the decision to perform angiography. Overall sensitivity was 99%, and specificity was 28% for the presence of any coronary calcium being predictive of obstructive angiographic disease. With volume calcium score greater than 100, the sensitivity to predict significant stenoses on angiography decreased to 87% and the specificity increased to 79% (40).

Comparison With Other Tests for CHD Diagnosis. It is appropriate to compare CAC scoring by fast CT with the older more mature diagnostic modalities. The equipment and personnel for performing stress electrocardiography, myocardial perfusion imaging, and echocardiography are readily available. The electrocardiographic (ECG) exercise test, like the echocardiogram, can be performed in the doctor's office and does not require exposure to radiation.

Exercise ECG Test. Gianrossi et al. (41) investigated the reported diagnostic accuracy of the exercise ECG for CAD obstructive disease in a meta-analysis. One hundred forty-

seven consecutively published reports involving 24 074 patients who underwent both coronary angiography and exercise testing were summarized. Wide variability in sensitivity and specificity was found (mean sensitivity was 68%, with a range of 23% to 100% and a standard deviation of 16%; mean specificity was 77%, with a range of 17% to 100% and a standard deviation of 17%).

Myocardial Perfusion Imaging and Stress Echocardiography. Fleischmann et al. (42) reviewed the contemporary literature to compare the diagnostic performance of exercise echocardiography and exercise nuclear perfusion scanning in the diagnosis of CAD. Forty-four articles (not unique patient data sets) met inclusion criteria: 24 reported exercise echocardiography results in 2637 patients with a weighted mean age of 59 years, of whom 69% were men, 66% had angiographic coronary disease, and 20% had prior myocardial infarction; and 27 reported exercise SPECT in 3237 patients, of whom 70% were men, 78% had angiographic coronary disease, and 33% had prior myocardial infarction. In pooled data weighted by the sample size of each study, exercise echocardiography had a sensitivity of 85% (95% CI 83% to 87%) with a specificity of 77% (95% CI 74% to 80%). Exercise perfusion yielded a similar sensitivity of 87% (95% CI 86% to 88%) but a lower specificity of 64% (95% CI 60% to 68%) (42).

There are more recent direct comparison studies available in patients who underwent both CAC measurements, as well as either exercise electrocardiography and/or nuclear imaging, with results compared to cardiac catheterization. Shavelle et al. (43) reported 97 patients who underwent technetium stress testing (technetium-stress), treadmill-ECG, and fast CT coronary scanning within 3 months of invasive coronary angiography for the evaluation of chest pain. The relative risk of obstructive angiographic CAD for an abnormal test was higher for fast CT CAC scores (4.53) than either treadmill-ECG (1.72) or technetium-stress (1.96). The accuracy of fast CT was significantly higher (80%) than either treadmill testing (71%) or technetium-stress (74%) in the diagnosis of obstructive CAD. The combination of a positive CAC (calcium score greater than 0) and abnormal treadmill-ECG raised the specificity to 83% for obstructive disease).

Kajinami et al. (44) evaluated 251 symptomatic patients who underwent coronary angiography, fast CT, ECG, and thallium exercise testing. The ECG and thallium exercise tests had overall sensitivity of 74% and 83%, respectively, and specificity of 73% and 60%, respectively. The sensitivity and specificity of CAC scoring were 77% and 86%, respectively. In a related study (45), 150 patients underwent thallium stress testing, fast CT, and coronary angiography. The relative risk of an abnormal thallium stress test was 3.5, compared to 14.9 for an elevated CAC score as detected by fast CT. Yao et al. (46) compared technetium-99m singlephoton emission tomography and fast CT in 51 patients with suspected CAD. Although differences were found between the 2 testing methods in patients with single-vessel CAD, the sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy were comparable in patients with multivessel CAD.

Schmermund et al. (47) also compared fast CT CAC measurement to nuclear stress test results in a cohort of 308 symptomatic patients. The association of CAC score with angiographically detected obstructive coronary disease remained highly significant after excluding the influence of all interrelated risk factors and SPECT variables (p less than 0.0001).

Data also support a complementary role for coronary calcium and myocardial perfusion scanning (MPS) measurements. He et al. (48) noted a threshold phenomenon with almost no observable myocardial hypoperfusion among patients with a CAC score less than 100 and with a marked increase in the frequency of an abnormal MPS in patients with high CAC values (greater than 100) (48). A recent study of 1195 patients who underwent CAC measurement and MPS assessment demonstrated that CAC was the most powerful predictor of an ischemic nuclear test, and that less than 2% of all patients with CAC less than 100 had positive MPS studies (49). CAC score, due to its high sensitivity for flow-limiting CAD, may be useful as a filter prior to invasive coronary angiography or stress nuclear imaging.

Other Uses of CAC Measurement in Symptomatic Persons. Another potential use of CAC is to determine the etiology of cardiomyopathy. The clinical manifestations of patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy are often indistinguishable from those patients with primary dilated cardiomyopathy. One large study in 120 patients with heart failure of unknown etiology demonstrated the presence of CAC was associated with 99% sensitivity for ischemic cardiomyopathy (50). Another study also demonstrated similarly high sensitivity using fast CT to differentiate ischemic from non-ischemic cardiomyopathy (51). This methodology has been demonstrated to be more accurate than echocardiography and MPS techniques in direct-comparison studies in this population (52,53). Additional comparative prognostic and diagnostic evidence is required to evaluate the role of CT as compared with conventional stress imaging techniques, as well as an assessment developing marginal cost effectiveness models.

Another potential application of CAC scoring relates to the triage of chest pain patients. Three studies have documented that CAC is a rapid and efficient screening tool for patients admitted to the emergency department with chest pain and nonspecific electrocardiograms (54–56). These relatively small-scale studies (with sample sizes ranging from 105 to 192) showed sensitivities of 98% to 100% for identifying patients with acute MI and very low subsequent event rates for persons with negative tests. The high sensitivity and high negative predictive value may allow early discharge of those patients with non-diagnostic ECG and negative CAC scans (scores = 0). Long term follow-up of one patient cohort demonstrated a very low risk of events in patients without demonstrated CAC at the time of emergency room visit (54). However, unlike the case with evaluations of asymptomatic patients (20), prognostic studies of CAC in symptomatic patients have generally been limited by biased samples (e.g., patients referred for invasive coronary angiography) and small numbers of hard outcome events. Future studies should include larger numbers of patients and should allow for adequate length of follow-up and assessment of larger numbers of hard endpoint events, especially all-cause mortality and myocardial infarction (57).

Summary. For the symptomatic patient, exclusion of measurable coronary calcium may be an effective filter before undertaking invasive diagnostic procedures or hospital admission. Scores less than 100 are typically associated with a low probability (less than 2%) of abnormal perfusion on nuclear stress tests (48,49), and less than 3% probability of significant obstruction (greater than 50% stenosis) on cardiac catheterization (38,39). The presence of CAC by fast CT is extremely sensitive for obstructive (greater than 50% luminal stenosis) CAD (95% to 99%), but has limited specificity. CAC studies of over 7600 symptomatic patients demonstrate negative predictive values of 96% to 100%, allowing for a high level of confidence that an individual with no coronary calcium (score = 0) has no obstructive angiographic disease (38-40).

In direct-comparison studies, CAC detection in the symptomatic person has been shown to be comparable to nuclear exercise testing in the detection of obstructive CAD. Given the prognostic information that is implicit in exercise capacity, even when it is combined with imaging, fast CT starts with a disadvantage compared with existing modalities in symptomatic patients who can exercise. Anatomic testing, such as cardiac CT (whether with contrast in the form of CT angiography or without contrast, such as CAC assessment), should be relegated to second line testing or considered when functional testing is either not possible or indeterminate. The accuracy of CAC is not limited by concurrent medication, the patient's ability to exercise, baseline wall motion, or electrocardiogram abnormalities.

Use of Coronary CT for Assessment of Progression or Regression of Coronary Atherosclerosis

Serial noninvasive monitoring of calcified atherosclerosis using CAC measurement has been proposed as a means of monitoring medical treatment for CAD as well as assessing change in CVD prognosis (58). The validity of serial coronary calcium measurements as a method to monitor progression of atherosclerosis requires: 1) that progression of coronary calcium has biologic relevance to atherosclerosis activity; 2) that progression of coronary calcium can be detected relative to inter-test variability; 3) that changes in coronary calcium severity have prognostic relevance; and 4) that modification of cardiovascular risk factors modulates the progression of coronary calcium. Each of these points is subsequently discussed.

Biologic Relevance of Coronary Atherosclerosis Progression

The extent of coronary calcium found on fast CT is broadly related to plaque burden, but there is a high degree of site-to-site variability in the presence and extent of calcium within any single atherosclerotic plaque. Pathology studies have shown that the extent of coronary calcium within plaques tends to be related to the presence of healed plaque ruptures (59). Moreover, vulnerable plaques tend to be those with less extensive calcium deposits frequently seen in a spotty distribution (59), a finding supported by intravascular ultrasound studies of patients with acute coronary syndromes (60). The biology of progression of calcium within atherosclerosis is complex, genetically-directed, and partially modified by drugs that have the potential to alter the fundamental biology of the calcification process. Statins, for example, can both inhibit and promote tissue calcification upon interaction with different types of vascular cells (61).

The associations between CAC progression and clinical cardiovascular risk factors are not well understood. Present data indicate that CAC progression is most strongly related to the baseline CAC score with only a limited relationship to standard cardiovascular risk factors (62,63).

Accuracy of Serial Coronary Calcium Assessments

Progression of coronary calcium is typically evaluated as a percentage of the baseline calcium score value. Early studies of the inter-test variability of CAC measurements indicated inter-scan variability as high as 25% to 50% of the calcium score value (62,64,65). More recently, imaging protocol refinements specific to electron beam CT scanning, including a reduction of the electrocardiographic gating interval to approximately 40% to 60% of the relative risk interval, and utilizing 3-mm slice thickness, have reduced the inter-test variability to 15% or less (66). The standard deviation of the interscan variability reported in the recent literature is approximately 10% (64). In contrast, annual CAC progression rates typically exceed 20% (62,64,65), thus permitting accurate determination of the presence or absence of true progression in individual patients across relatively short (1 to 2 year) time horizons. The ability to track CAC progression is most accurate in patients with intermediate and higher CAC scores because the absolute error in CAC measurement would approximate the actual CAC score in patients with low scores (CAC score 1 to 30), and even small changes in the absolute calcium score would be a relatively large fractional change.

Prognostic Relevance of CAC Score Changes

There have been 3 reports from the work of Raggi and colleagues on the relationship between changes in CAC score and outcomes (67-69). In these studies including a

general population (67) analyzed by diabetic status (68) and treatment with statins (69), subjects who suffered an MI demonstrated an approximately 2-fold greater annual CAC increase than event-free survivors. In the presence of definite CAC score progression (greater than 15%/year), there was a significant increase in relative risk of myocardial infarction compared to subjects with stable scores. Notably, the finding of CAC progression increased the associated cardiovascular risk across all levels of CAC severity (69). Furthermore, the detection of stable CAC was associated with a low risk of cardiovascular events, even among those with extensive CAC. A major limitation of using calcium score progression as a marker of risk is that the positive predictive value appears to be low with substantial overlap among those with and without future events. Nonetheless, serial monitoring of atherosclerosis to refine risk prediction remains a potentially attractive hypothesis in need of ongoing investigation. Confirmatory reports from screening populations are needed to assess the strength and generalizability of these findings.

Modification of CAC Progression

Progression of CAC is frequently observed across modest (3 to 7 year) time horizons to a degree primarily related to the extent of baseline coronary calcification (70,71). Several pharmacological interventions, including statins and calcium channel blockers, have been associated with delayed progression of CAC. The earliest work primarily involved statins in observational study designs, including 2 published observational studies on the effect of reducing LDL cholesterol with statins in which CAC progression was found to be lower during statin treatment (72,73). These data, however, have been contradicted by 2 large statin clinical trials that failed to confirm this finding, including a placebocontrolled study using calcium scores (74) and a study of post-menopausal women treated to moderate versus intensive LDL cholesterol reductions using calcium volume scores (75). The CAC findings of the latter 2 studies are in contrast to the definitive reduction in cardiovascular risk associated with statin therapy and suggest that either longer periods of monitoring of CAC would be necessary to detect an effect of statins, that statins fundamentally alter the relationship between calcified plaque extent and cardiovascular outcomes, or that statins are affecting the noncalcified plaque and therefore no change is detectable by CAC measurement. Management of other cardiovascular risk factors, for example, hypertension or diabetes, has not been examined relative to the progression of coronary calcium.

Summary and Implications

Although progression of CAC can be detected using fast CT methods, its determinants are largely unknown and the relationship to clinical outcomes is still unclear. Because progression of CAC is not clearly modifiable through standard risk reducing therapies, and CAC measurement involves both costs and radiation exposure, clinical monitoring of CAC progression through serial fast CT scanning is not recommended at this time.

Cost-Effectiveness of Coronary Calcium Scoring for Risk Assessment of Cardiac Death or MI

Establishing the cost-effectiveness of testing, especially screening tests, is quite challenging. To establish effectiveness, CAC measurement would have to be shown to enhance life, prolong life, or both (76). This task can be relatively straightforward with therapies for which there are randomized controlled clinical trials establishing efficacy in terms of quality of life, events, or mortality. These types of studies do not exist for CAC measurement, as noted earlier in this report, and in general do not exist for any cardiovascular test. Standards for cost-effectiveness analysis call for evaluating effects on survival, quality of life and cost using a lifetime time horizon (76). Even for therapies which have major clinical impact, such as lowering of LDL cholesterol, and where the clinical trial data are consistent and convincing, this is challenging to accomplish. For a single test, which might be expected to have a smaller impact than a major therapeutic strategy, establishing cost-effectiveness can be a difficult, if not unrealistic goal.

In the absence of clinical trial data, cost-effectiveness is generally approached with simulations in which decisions, test results, and outcomes are estimated, with as much information coming from the medical literature as possible. For tests, such as CAC measurement, simulations can be especially difficult because the test results can lead to many different possible decisions and thus many different potential outcomes. Furthermore, for evaluating any test or therapy, it is essential to understand the nature of the intervention and the comparators. In the case of CAC measurement, there are several possible ways to view how the test would affect care and outcome, and the comparators may not be clear.

Despite these challenges, there have been several attempts to assess the cost-effectiveness of CAC scoring. O'Malley et al. (77) constructed a decision analytic model of the addition of CAC score to the FRS. The base case assumed that any CAC greater than 0 would increase the relative risk 4-fold. Multiple additional assumptions were made, some of which the Writing Committee members considered difficult to justify. The base case offered an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) of \$86 752 for a 42-year-old subject. The ICER was sensitive to the gain in life expectancy for early intervention, the utility of being at risk, and the added prognostic value of CAC. This study offers good insight into some of the problems in assessing the cost-effectiveness of CAC, but it is the judgment of the Writing Committee that it is not sufficiently grounded in data to be useful for medical decision making. The authors

updated this analysis using the hazard ratio from the Prospective Army Coronary Calcium project, finding an ICER of \$31 500 (18). This conclusion was sensitive to variation in the extent to which CAC actually predicts events (sensitivity analysis) and to assumed degree of the efficacy of primary prevention strategies (in sensitivity analysis). Furthermore, there were only 9 coronary events used to establish the hazard ratios. The analysis is also limited by the assumptions in the model. Shaw et al. (78) developed a similar decision-analytic model, finding that in individuals with estimated risk of coronary events below 0.6% per year, the ICER approached \$500 000, but was \$42 339 if the estimated event rate was 1% per year, and \$30 742 if the event rate was 2% per year. This model was also highly dependent on the underlying assumptions, as is always the case for any cost-effectiveness model.

Summary and Conclusion

While several serious efforts to understand the costeffectiveness of CAC measurement have been made, the Committee felt that models were not, and could not be, sufficiently well grounded in data to offer results that could be used for medical decision making or establishing policy at this time.

Special Considerations

CAC Scores and Gender

Gender differences in utility and accuracy of imaging tests are typically related to differences in the epidemiology of coronary heart disease, with women having later onset of clinical CHD than men. Gender differences in incidence and prevalence of CAD are most marked in middle-aged populations, the typical target age group for CHD screening. In addition, emerging data suggest that there may be actual gender differences in the anatomy of atherosclerosis. Thus, it is important to consider genderspecific data when evaluating the potential uses of any new cardiac test.

Epidemiology

Women develop coronary atherosclerosis 10 years later than men, on average, and the occurrence of coronary calcification tracks with this later onset of CAD. These differences start to diminish at about age 60 (79). These gender differences in occurrence of coronary calcium support the association of CAC with coronary atherosclerosis and underline the importance of age- and gender-specific reference points for CAC scoring (80).

Risk Assessment

In general, studies of the use of coronary calcium as a component of the CHD risk assessment include fewer women than men. Studies also vary according to the analysis of women as a separate subgroup. Because many of the existing studies have included women and men of similar age (typically between ages 50 and 60), the reported 10-year event rates for women have been predictably lower than in men. Thus, many studies have been underpowered and included women at too low risk to show benefit of CAC screening exclusively in women.

Two studies included a large enough sample of women (81) or adequate numbers of elderly patients to reach conclusions about CAC testing in women. In a prospective, observational study by Raggi et al. (81), the relationship between CAC and all-cause mortality was analyzed by gender in 10 377 asymptomatic individuals, of whom 40% were women. The mean follow-up period was 5 ± 3.5 years. For women, the ROC C-statistic for the prediction of all-cause mortality by the NCEP ATP-3 Framingham risk calculator was 0.672 for women and increased significantly to 0.75 with data from CAC scores added to the prediction models (p less than 0.0001). This analysis is limited by the use of self-reported risk factors but showed similar relationships in the predictive ability of CAC in men and women. Mortality was determined using the Social Security National Death Index, thus these data are not specific to CHD events. In a study of older individuals (mean age = 71 years), the relationships between CAC score and incident myocardial infarction were similar in men and women (22) and remained significant in risk factor- and gender-adjusted models (22).

Summary

There are limited data broadly specific to women on the relationship between CHD outcomes and CAC. Existing data confirm an association between CAC scores and all-cause mortality and CHD events in elderly women. Future studies must include enough women within an appropriately high clinical risk stratum (at least intermediate Framingham risk) to be able to draw significant, clinically relevant conclusions specific to women.

Ethnicity

The majority of studies which have demonstrated the association between the degree of coronary calcium, the burden of atherosclerosis, and the risk for cardiovascular events associated with coronary calcium have included primarily Caucasian subjects. Significant racial/ethnic differences exist in the prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors and mortality. Blacks generally have a higher prevalence of hypertension, diabetes and obesity, and a higher age-adjusted mortality from coronary heart disease and cardiovascular disease than whites (82,83). Some of these differences are attributed to socioeconomic status, access to care, and lifestyle factors.

Potential differences in coronary calcium prevalence and severity between racial/ethnic groups have begun to be evaluated. A few studies have been published which have compared the prevalence and/or severity of CAC in black and white subjects. Some have found that blacks have less coronary calcium than whites, and others have shown no significant differences. The largest study was reported from MESA, which included 6814 men and women between the ages of 45 and 84 years without evidence of clinical cardiovascular disease (84). The prevalence of coronary calcium was highest in the white men (70.4%) and lowest in the black men (52.1%). The prevalence in Hispanic and Chinese men was intermediate between the two (56.5% and 59.2%, respectively). Similar results were seen in women, with white women having the highest prevalence (44.6%), black and Hispanic women the lowest (36.5% and 34.9%, respectively), and Chinese women intermediate (41.9%). After adjusting for cardiovascular disease risk factors the prevalence of coronary calcium was 22% lower in blacks compared with whites, 15% lower in Hispanics, and 8% lower in Chinese. Similar results were seen in analyses of the severity of coronary calcium in these racial/ethnic groups (33). The MESA study recently published detailed tables and figures describing the racial/ethnic distribution of coronary calcium in a relatively unbiased population sample (85). The exact estimated percentile for a particular age in years is available at the MESA public Web site (http://www.mesa-nhlbi.org/CACReference.aspx). At this Web site, one can enter an age (in years), gender, race/ethnicity (for the 4 race/ethnicity groups included in MESA), and optionally an observed calcium score and obtain the estimated percentiles for that subset, and the estimated percentile for the particular calcium score entered.

The Prospective Army Coronary Calcium (PACC) Project also found a higher prevalence of coronary calcium in white (19.2%) than black (10.3%) active-duty military personnel with a mean age of 42 years; the difference persisted after adjusting for cardiovascular disease risk factors (86). Budoff et al. (87) described similar findings in white men referred for CAC testing compared with black men; however, in this study, black women had a higher prevalence of coronary calcium than white women. In addition, Asian men and women had a lower prevalence of coronary calcium, and the prevalence in Hispanics was similar to the whites. The Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS) included older adults (67 to 99 years) and found higher CAC scores in whites compared with blacks, especially in men (88). Interestingly, a subgroup analysis of subjects with a history of prior MI also showed lower coronary calcium scores in the black subgroup. Budoff et al. (89) described ethnic differences in coronary calcium and angiographic stenosis in patients referred for clinically indicated coronary angiography who also underwent a research fast CT for CAC score. Again, it was observed that blacks had a lower prevalence of coronary calcium (62%) compared with whites (84%). This correlated with a lower prevalence of significant angiographic coronary artery obstruction (49% in blacks and 71% in whites). Hispanics also had a lower prevalence of coronary calcium (71%) and stenosis (58%) than whites, but there were no differences in Asians, who were underrepresented in this study. Sekikawa et al. (90) compared the prevalence of coronary calcium in 100 Americans (99% white) and 100 Japanese and found a significantly lower prevalence of coronary calcium in the Japanese men (13%) than the American men (47%).

In contrast, the Dallas Heart Study is a populationbased probability sample that includes 1289 men and women between the ages of 18 and 65 years, of whom 50% are black. In this study the prevalence of coronary calcium (Agatston score greater than 10) was similar between black (37%) and white (41%) men, and between black (29%) and white (23%) women (91). In addition, the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) study also found no difference in the prevalence of coronary calcium in young black and white adults between the ages of 28 and 40 years (92), and no difference was found in coronary calcium scores between black and white postmenopausal women in the Women's Health Initiative Observational Study (93).

Overall, the majority of studies demonstrate a lower prevalence and extent of coronary calcification in blacks compared to whites despite generally a higher prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors in blacks. None of the studies has shown a higher prevalence of coronary calcium in black men despite the greater age-adjusted prevalence of CHD mortality although some do show no difference between the 2 groups. Only a few studies have described coronary calcium in Hispanic or Asian American populations. Studies evaluating racial/ethnic disparities in CAC measurement are somewhat limited at this time due to lack of follow-up for cardiovascular events. Outcome studies are needed to determine whether the same coronary calcium score might have a different prognosis depending on race/ethnicity. As race/ethnicity is not always a discrete characteristic, if this is the case, interpretation of these scores would be difficult. It is unclear whether racial/ethnic differences translate to differences in the pathophysiology of atherosclerosis, that is, differing degrees of calcification for the same degree of atherosclerosis, or whether some ethnic groups have a lower burden of atherosclerotic plaque than whites. At this time, there is limited information on how to use coronary calcium data derived from primarily white populations to predict CHD in non-white populations. In terms of racial differences in risk assessment, it should be noted that despite ethnic differences in the use of the FRS for this purpose, there is population-based evidence that pre-test assessments of risk can be reliably made in black men and women based on the FRS (94). Thus, the FRS remains the standard approach to risk assessment even in ethnic minorities.

Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD) and End-Stage Renal Disease (ESRD)

Patients with CKD and ESRD often die from cardiovascular diseases. The AHA has recommended that these patients be placed in the "highest risk" category and therefore receive aggressive preventive therapies (95). There is a remarkably high prevalence of coronary calcium in patients with ESRD who are undergoing dialysis, especially in young adults compared with controls (96,97). The presence and degree of coronary calcium in these patients may be associated with the number of years on dialysis, the intake of supplemental calcium, and the mean calcium-phosphorus ion product (98-100). The use of non-calcium phosphate binders is associated with less progression of coronary calcium than is calcium carbonate (101). These findings suggest that altered calcium metabolism is related to the pathogenesis of arterial calcification in these patients.

Some studies suggest that patients with CKD and ESRD develop calcification in the tunica media layer of the arterial wall, unlike the typical intimal calcification that is known to be associated with plaque burden (102). The role of medial calcification as a marker of cardiovascular risk is not well defined. Some studies reveal an association between coronary calcium and prevalent cardiovascular disease in patients undergoing dialysis (98), and coronary calcium score is associated with risk for total mortality (103). An association between the degree of coronary calcium and luminal stenosis on angiography has been reported (104), however, other studies did not show this association (105).

In summary, the role of CAC scoring in determining risk in patients with CKD and/or ESRD is unclear due to a limited number of clinical studies in these populations. Further prospective studies are needed to determine the utility of CAC testing in patients with CKD and ESRD for predicting risk for CVD events.

Diabetes

Numerous cross-sectional studies have documented that patients with diabetes have a higher prevalence and extent of coronary calcium than non-diabetic patients (106–111). However, there is less information available about the utility of coronary calcium as a predictor of risk in diabetic patients. The South Bay Heart Watch Study found that baseline coronary calcium predicted risk in the non-diabetic subgroup, but not in the diabetic subgroup (n = 269) (110). However, Raggi et al. (106) found that coronary calcium predicted all-cause mortality in diabetics referred for fast coronary CT scanning. Raggi et al. (106) also found that patients with diabetes have a greater increase in risk for mortality associated with a given degree of calcium than the non-diabetic patients. A recent study (112) suggested that CAC scoring may be superior to established cardiovascular risk factors for predicting silent myocardial ischemia and short-term cardiovascular outcomes among stable, uncomplicated type 2 diabetic patients. However, while prospectively conducted, the study included a very small number of hard coronary events and must be confirmed by a larger study.

Patients with diabetes are considered to be in the highest risk category according to the Adult Treatment Panel III guidelines (14). Consistent with the observation that diabetics have a high burden of atherosclerosis, asymptomatic diabetic patients without known CAD have a similar prevalence of CAC as non-diabetic patients with obstructive CAD (107). Diabetic patients without any evidence of coronary calcification have a survival rate similar to non-diabetic patients with a zero calcium score during 5 years of follow-up (106). These results suggest that coronary calcium might be useful to further stratify short-term risk in diabetic patients. However, until studies from non-referral populations with longer follow-up, including fatal and non-fatal cardiovascular events are completed, CAC scores should not be used to modify treatment goals in diabetic patients.

Incidental Findings in Patients Undergoing CAC Testing

Coronary calcium measurement by fast CT scanning of the heart includes imaging of a portion of the lungs, mediastinum, bones and upper abdomen, in addition to the aorta. The identification of potential pathology other than coronary calcium must be considered when evaluating the benefits and costs of cardiac CT scanning. The most common incidental finding is pulmonary nodules. The prevalence of incidental findings depends on the age of the population, the prevalence of smoking, and the definition of an abnormality. Lung nodules that required clinical follow-up were identified in 4.9% of 1326 patients (noncalcified lung nodules less than 1 cm, 4.0%, and lung nodules greater than 1 cm, 0.9%) in a study by Horton et al. (113) in patients with a mean age of 55 years, of whom 7% were active smokers and 18% former smokers. In 1000 active duty Army personnel with a mean age of 42 years of whom 13% were active smokers, the prevalence of pulmonary incidental findings including nodules and other pulmonary pathology was 2.3%. Of these, approximately 50% were considered major, requiring subspecialty referral or potential invasive procedures (114). In both studies, the prevalence of incidental findings in any organ system was 8%; however, in the Army personnel study, 40% were considered minor; whereas, in the Horton study, minor findings were not included.

Occasionally a serious finding with potentially important medical information is detected outside the coronary arteries when coronary calcium screening examinations are performed; therefore, it is important that the entire examination be reviewed. However, with this review, benign lesions will be detected as well, which can lead to additional, and possibly unnecessary, testing and anxiety. It is recommended that current radiology guidelines be used to make recommendations for follow-up testing of noncardiac pathology, such as was recently published to guide follow-up for small pulmonary nodules (115).

Summary and Final Conclusions

This document has updated information on CAC measurement with particular emphasis on data that have appeared since 2000 when the previous ACC/AHA Expert Consensus Document was published. In considering the data presented here, the Expert Consensus Committee felt that specific clinical examples should be highlighted and clinical recommendations linked to these examples for use by clinicians.

The following clinical scenarios were noted to be relevant to CAC measurement, and the Committee's consensus on these questions is noted.

1. What is the role of coronary calcium measurement by coronary CT scanning in asymptomatic patients with intermediate CHD risk (between 10% and 20% 10-year risk of estimated coronary events)?

The Committee judged that it may be reasonable to consider use of CAC measurement in such patients based on available evidence that demonstrates incremental risk prediction information in this selected (intermediate risk) patient group. This conclusion is based on the possibility that such patients might be reclassified to a higher risk status based on high CAC score, and subsequent patient management may be modified.

2. What is the role of coronary calcium measurement by CT scan in patients with low CHD risk (below 10% 10-year risk of estimated CHD events)?

The Committee does not recommend use of CAC measurement in this selected patient group. This patient group is similar to the "population screening" scenario, and the Committee does not recommend screening of the general population using CAC measurement.

3. What is the role of coronary calcium measurement by fast CT scan in asymptomatic patients with high CHD risk (greater than 20% estimated 10-year risk of estimated CHD events, or established coronary disease, or other high-risk diagnoses)?

The Committee does not advise CAC measurement in this selected patient stratum as they are already judged to be candidates for intensive risk reducing therapies based on current NCEP guidelines.

4. Is the evidence strong enough to reduce the treatment intensity in patients with calcium score = 0 in patients who are considered intermediate risk before coronary calcium score?

No evidence is available that allows the Committee to make a consensus judgment on this question. Accordingly, the Committee felt that current standard recommendations for treatment of intermediate risk patients should apply in this setting.

5. Is there evidence that coronary calcium measurement is better than other potentially competing tests in intermediate risk patients for modifying cardiovascular disease risk estimate?

In general, CAC measurement has not been compared to alternative approaches to risk assessment in headto-head studies. This question cannot be adequately answered from available data.

6. Should there be additional cardiac testing when a patient is found to have high coronary calcium score (e.g., CAC greater than 400)?

Current clinical practice guidelines indicate that patients classified as high risk based on high risk factor burden or existence of known high-risk disease states (e.g., diabetes) are regarded as candidates for intensive preventive therapies (medical treatments). There is no clear evidence that additional non-invasive testing in this patient population will result in more appropriate selection of treatments.

7. Is there a role of CAC testing in patients with atypical cardiac symptoms?

Evidence indicates that patients considered to be at low risk of coronary disease by virtue of atypical cardiac symptoms may benefit from CAC testing to help in ruling out the presence of obstructive coronary disease. Other competing approaches are available, and most of these competing modalities have not been compared head-to-head with CAC.

8. Can coronary calcium data collected to date be generalized to specific patient populations (women, African American men)?

CAC data are strongest for Caucasian, non-Hispanic men. The Committee recommends caution in extrapolating CAC data derived from studies in white men to women and to ethnic minorities.

9. What is the appropriate follow-up when an incidental finding in the lungs or other non-cardiac tissues is found on a fast coronary CT study?

Current radiology guidelines should be considered when determining need for follow-up of incidental findings on a fast CT study, such as that which was recently published to guide follow-up of small pulmonary nodules (115).

Staff

American College of Cardiology Foundation John C. Lewin, MD, Chief Executive Officer Thomas E. Arend, Jr., Esq., Chief Operating Officer Lisa Bradfield, Associate Director, Clinical Policy and Documents

María Velásquez, Specialist, Clinical Policy and Documents Erin A. Barrett, Specialist, Clinical Policy and Documents Peg Christiansen, Librarian

REFERENCES

- O'Rourke RA, Brundage BH, Froelicher VF, et al. American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association expert consensus document on electron-beam computed tomography for the diagnosis and prognosis of coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;36: 326–40.
- Budoff MJ, Achenbach S, Blumenthal RS, et al. Assessment of coronary artery disease by cardiac computed tomography: a statement from the American Heart Association Committee on Cardiovascular Imaging and Intervention, Council on Cardiovascular Radiology and Intervention, and Committee on Cardiac Imaging, Council on Clinical Cardiology. Circulation 2006;114:1761–91.
- Patel MR, Hendel RC, Kramer CM, et al. ACCF/ACR/SCCT/ SCMR/ASNC/NASCI/SCAI/SIR 2006 appropriateness criteria for cardiac computed tomography and cardiac magnetic resonance imaging. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006;48:1475–97.
- Ross R. The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: a perspective for the 1990s. Nature 1993;362:801-9.
- Stary HC. Composition and classification of human atherosclerotic lesions. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histopathol 1992; 421:277–90.
- Stary HC, Chandler AB, Dinsmore RE, et al. A definition of advanced types of atherosclerotic lesions and a histological classification of atherosclerosis. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. Circulation 1995;92:1355–74.
- Tanenbaum SR, Kondos GT, Veselik KE, et al. Detection of calcific deposits in coronary arteries by ultrafast computed tomography and correlation with angiography. Am J Cardiol 1989;63:870–2.
- Falk E, Shah PK, Fuster V. Coronary plaque disruption. Circulation 1995;92:657–71.
- 9. Fuster V. Lewis A. Conner Memorial Lecture. Mechanisms leading to myocardial infarction: insights from studies of vascular biology. Circulation 1994;90:2126-46.
- Davies MJ. The composition of coronary artery plaque. N Engl J Med 1993;69:377–81.
- Beckman JA, Ganz J, Creager MA, Ganz P, Kinlay S. Relationship of clinical presentation and calcification of culprit coronary artery stenoses. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2001;21:1618–22.
- Agatston AS, Janowitz WR, Hildner FJ, et al. Quantification of coronary artery calcium using ultrafast computed tomography. J Am Coll Cardiol 1990;15:827–32.
- Conroy RM, Pyorala K, Fitzgerald AP, et al. Estimation of ten-year risk of fatal cardiovascular disease in Europe: the SCORE project. Eur Heart J 2003;24:987–1003.
- Executive summary of the third report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, And Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol In Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). JAMA 2001;285:2486–97.
- Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR, et al. The seventh report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure: the JNC 7 report. JAMA 2003;289:2560-72.
- Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Merz CN, et al. Implications of recent clinical trials for the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III guidelines. Circulation 2004;110:227–39.
- Califf RM, Armstrong PW, Carver JR, D'Agostino RB, Strauss WE.
 27th Bethesda Conference: matching the intensity of risk factor management with the hazard for coronary disease events. Task Force

5. Stratification of patients into high, medium and low risk subgroups for purposes of risk factor management. J Am Coll Cardiol 1996;27:1007–19.

- Taylor AJ, Bindeman J, Feuerstein I, Cao F, Brazaitis M, O'Malley PG. Coronary calcium independently predicts incident premature coronary heart disease over measured cardiovascular risk factors: mean three-year outcomes in the Prospective Army Coronary Calcium (PACC) project. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;46: 807–14.
- Arad Y, Goodman KJ, Roth M, Newstein D, Guerci AD. Coronary calcification, coronary disease risk factors, C-reactive protein, and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease events: the St. Francis Heart Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;46:158–65.
- Greenland P, LaBree L, Azen SP, Doherty TM, Detrano RC. Coronary artery calcium score combined with Framingham score for risk prediction in asymptomatic individuals. JAMA 2004;291: 210-5.
- Kondos GT, Hoff JA, Sevrukov A, et al. Electron-beam tomography coronary artery calcium and cardiac events: a 37-month follow-up of 5635 initially asymptomatic low- to intermediate-risk adults. Circulation 2003;107:2571–6.
- Vliegenthart R, Oudkerk M, Hofman A, et al. Coronary calcification improves cardiovascular risk prediction in the elderly. Circulation 2005;112:572–7.
- Pletcher MJ, Tice JA, Pignone M, Browner WS. Using the coronary artery calcium score to predict coronary heart disease events: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med 2004;164: 1285–92.
- Rumberger JA, Simons DB, Fitzpatrick LA, Sheedy PF, Schwartz RS. Coronary artery calcium area by electron-beam computed tomography and coronary atherosclerotic plaque area. A histopathologic correlative study. Circulation 1995;92:2157–62.
- Fleming C, Whitlock EP, Beil TL, Lederle FA. Screening for abdominal aortic aneurysm: a best-evidence systematic review for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Ann Intern Med 2005;142:203–11.
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. Available at: http://www.ahrq.gov/clinic/uspstf/ uspsaneu.htm. Last update 2005. Accessed October 22, 2006.
- O'Malley PG, Feuerstein IM, Taylor AJ. Impact of electron beam tomography, with or without case management, on motivation, behavioral change, and cardiovascular risk profile: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2003;289:2215–23.
- LaMonte MJ, FitzGerald SJ, Church TS, et al. Coronary artery calcium score and coronary heart disease events in a large cohort of asymptomatic men and women. Am J Epidemiol 2005;162: 421–9.
- Redberg RF, Vogel RA, Criqui MH, et al. 34th Bethesda Conference: Task Force #3—What is the spectrum of current and emerging techniques for the noninvasive measurement of atherosclerosis? J Am Coll Cardiol 2003;41:1886–98.
- Park R, Detrano R, Xiang M, et al. Combined use of computed tomography coronary calcium scores and C-reactive protein levels in predicting cardiovascular events in nondiabetic individuals. Circulation 2002;106:2073–7.
- Third report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report. Circulation 2002;106:3143–421.
- Raggi P, Cooil B, Callister TQ. Use of electron beam tomography data to develop models for prediction of hard coronary events. Am Heart J 2001;141:375–82.
- Bild DE, Detrano R, Peterson D, et al. Ethnic differences in coronary calcification: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). Circulation 2005;111:1313–20.
- 34. Mieres JH, Shaw LJ, Arai A, et al. Role of noninvasive testing in the clinical evaluation of women with suspected coronary artery disease: consensus statement from the Cardiac Imaging Committee, Council on Clinical Cardiology, and the Cardiovascular Imaging and Intervention Committee, Council on Cardiovascular Radiology and Intervention, American Heart Association. Circulation 2005;111:682–96.

- Kennedy J, Shavelle R, Wang S, Budoff M, Detrano RC. Coronary calcium and standard risk factors in symptomatic patients referred for coronary angiography. Am Heart J 1998;135:696–702.
- 36. Schmermund A, Bailey KR, Rumberger JA, et al. An algorithm for noninvasive identification of angiographic three-vessel and/or left main coronary artery disease in symptomatic patients on the basis of cardiac risk and electron-beam computed tomographic calcium scores. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999;33:444–52.
- Guerci AD, Spadaro LA, Goodman KJ, et al. Comparison of electron beam computed tomography scanning and conventional risk factor assessment for the prediction of angiographic coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 1998;32:673–9.
- Budoff MJ, Diamond GA, Raggi P, et al. Continuous probabilistic prediction of angiographically significant coronary artery disease using electron beam tomography. Circulation 2002;105:1791–6.
- Haberl R, Becker A, Leber A, et al. Correlation of coronary calcification and angiographically documented stenoses in patients with suspected coronary artery disease: results of 1,764 patients. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001;37:451–7.
- Knez A, Becker A, Leber A, et al. Relation of coronary calcium scores by electron beam tomography to obstructive disease in 2,115 symptomatic patients. Am J Cardiol 2004;93:1150–2.
- Gianrossi R, Detrano R, Mulvihill D, et al. Exercise-induced ST depression in the diagnosis of coronary artery disease. A metaanalysis. Circulation 1989;80:87–98.
- Fleischmann KE, Hunink MG, Kuntz KM, Douglas PS. Exercise echocardiography or exercise SPECT imaging? A meta-analysis of diagnostic test performance. JAMA 1998;280:913–20.
- Shavelle DM, Budoff MJ, Lamont DH, et al. Exercise testing and electron beam computed tomography in the evaluation of coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;36:32–8.
- 44. Kajinami K, Seki H, Takekoshi N, Mabuchi H. Noninvasive prediction of coronary atherosclerosis by quantification of coronary artery calcification using electron beam computed tomography: comparison with electrocardiographic and thallium exercise stress test results. J Am Coll Cardiol 1995;26:1209–21.
- 45. Spadaro LA, Sherman S, Roth M, Lerner G, Guerci A. Comparison of thallium stress testing and electron beam computed tomography in the prediction of coronary artery disease (abstr). J Am Coll Cardiol 1996;27 Suppl A:175A.
- 46. Yao Z, Liu XJ, Shi R, et al. A comparison of 99mTc-MIBI myocardial SPET with electron beam computed tomography in the assessment of coronary artery disease. Eur J Nucl Med 1997;24:1115-20.
- 47. Schmermund A, Denktas AE, Rumberger JA, et al. Independent and incremental value of coronary artery calcium for predicting the extent of angiographic coronary artery disease: comparison with cardiac risk factors and radionuclide perfusion imaging. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999; 34:777–86.
- He ZX, Hedrick TD, Pratt CM, et al. Severity of coronary artery calcification by electron beam computed tomography predicts silent myocardial ischemia. Circulation 2000;101:244–51.
- Berman DS, Wong ND, Gransar H, et al. Relationship between stress-induced myocardial ischemia and atherosclerosis measured by coronary calcium tomography. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004;44:923–30.
- Budoff MJ, Shavelle DM, Lamont DH, et al. Usefulness of electron beam computed tomography scanning for distinguishing ischemic from nonischemic cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol 1998;32: 1173–8.
- Shemesh J, Tenenbaum A, Fisman EZ, et al. Coronary calcium as a reliable tool for differentiating ischemic from nonischemic cardiomyopathy. Am J Cardiol 1996;77:191–4.
- Budoff MJ, Jacob B, Rasouli ML, et al. Comparison of electron beam computed tomography and technetium stress testing in differentiating cause of dilated versus ischemic cardiomyopathy. J Comput Assist Tomogr 2005;29:699–703.
- Le T, Ko JY, Kim HT, Akinwale P, Budoff MJ. Comparison of echocardiography and electron beam tomography in differentiating the etiology of heart failure. Clin Cardiol 2000;23:417–20.
- Georgiou D, Budoff MJ, Kaufer E, Kennedy JM, Lu B, Brundage BH. Screening patients with chest pain in the emergency department using electron beam tomography: a follow-up study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001;38:105–10.

- 55. Laudon DA, Vukov LF, Breen JF, et al. Use of electron-beam computed tomography in the evaluation of chest pain patients in the emergency department. Ann Emerg Med 1999;33:15–21.
- McLaughlin VV, Balogh T, Rich S. Utility of electron beam computed tomography to stratify patients presenting to the emergency room with chest pain. Am J Cardiol 1999;84:327–8.
- Lauer MS, Topol EJ. Clinical trials—multiple treatments, multiple end points, and multiple lessons. JAMA 2003;289:2575–7.
- Waters D, Higginson L, Gladstone P, et al. Effects of monotherapy with an HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor on the progression of coronary atherosclerosis as assessed by serial quantitative arteriography. The Canadian Coronary Atherosclerosis Intervention Trial. Circulation 1994;89:959–68.
- Burke AP, Taylor A, Farb A, Malcom GT, Virmani R. Coronary calcification: insights from sudden coronary death victims. Z Kardiol 2000;89 Suppl 2:49–53.
- 60. Ehara S, Kobayashi Y, Yoshiyama M, et al. Spotty calcification typifies the culprit plaque in patients with acute myocardial infarction: an intravascular ultrasound study. Circulation 2004; 110:3424-9.
- Wu B, Elmariah S, Kaplan FS, Cheng G, Mohler ER III. Paradoxical effects of statins on aortic valve myofibroblasts and osteoblasts: implications for end-stage valvular heart disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2005;25:592–7.
- 62. Schmermund A, Baumgart D, Mohlenkamp S, et al. Natural history and topographic pattern of progression of coronary calcification in symptomatic patients: an electron-beam CT study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2001;21:421–6.
- Yoon HC, Emerick AM, Hill JA, Gjertson DW, Goldin JG. Calcium begets calcium: progression of coronary artery calcification in asymptomatic subjects. Radiology 2002;224:236–41.
- 64. Budoff MJ, Lane KL, Bakhsheshi H, et al. Rates of progression of coronary calcium by electron beam tomography. Am J Cardiol 2000;86:8-11.
- Maher JE, Bielak LF, Raz JA, Sheedy PF, Schwartz RS, Peyser PA. Progression of coronary artery calcification: a pilot study. Mayo Clin Proc 1999;74:347–55.
- Mao S, Bakhsheshi H, Lu B, et al. Effect of electrocardiogram triggering on reproducibility of coronary artery calcium scoring. Radiology 2001;220:707–11.
- Raggi P, Cooil B, Shaw LJ, et al. Progression of coronary calcium on serial electron beam tomographic scanning is greater in patients with future myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol 2003;92:827–9.
- Raggi P, Cooil B, Ratti C, Callister TQ, Budoff M. Progression of coronary artery calcium and occurrence of myocardial infarction in patients with and without diabetes mellitus. Hypertension 2005;46: 238–43.
- Raggi P, Callister TQ, Shaw LJ. Progression of coronary artery calcium and risk of first myocardial infarction in patients receiving cholesterol-lowering therapy. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2004; 24:1272–7.
- Chironi G, Simon A, Denarie N, et al. Determinants of progression of coronary artery calcifications in asymptomatic men at high cardiovascular risk. Angiology 2002;53:677–83.
- Sutton-Tyrrell K, Kuller LH, Edmundowicz D, et al. Usefulness of electron beam tomography to detect progression of coronary and aortic calcium in middle-aged women. Am J Cardiol 2001;87:560-4.
- Achenbach S, Daniel WG. Imaging of coronary atherosclerosis using computed tomography: current status and future directions. Curr Atheroscler Rep 2004;6:213–8.
- Callister TQ, Raggi P, Cooil B, Lippolis NJ, Russo DJ. Effect of HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors on coronary artery disease as assessed by electron-beam computed tomography. N Engl J Med 1998;339:1972–8.
- 74. Arad Y, Spadaro LA, Roth M, Newstein D, Guerci AD. Treatment of asymptomatic adults with elevated coronary calcium scores with atorvastatin, vitamin C, and vitamin E: the St. Francis Heart Study randomized clinical trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;46:166–72.
- Raggi P, Davidson M, Callister TQ, et al. Aggressive versus moderate lipid-lowering therapy in hypercholesterolemic postmenopausal women: Beyond Endorsed Lipid Lowering with EBT Scanning (BELLES). Circulation 2005;112:563-71.
- Douglas PS, Ginsburg GS. The evaluation of chest pain in women. N Engl J Med 1996;334:1311–5.

- O'Malley PG, Greenberg BA, Taylor AJ. Cost-effectiveness of using electron beam computed tomography to identify patients at risk for clinical coronary artery disease. Am Heart J 2004;148:106–13.
- Shaw LJ, Raggi P, Berman DS, Callister TQ. Cost effectiveness of screening for cardiovascular disease with measures of coronary calcium. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2003;46:171–84.
- Janowitz WR, Agatston AS, Kaplan G, Viamonte M Jr. Differences in prevalence and extent of coronary artery calcium detected by ultrafast computed tomography in asymptomatic men and women. Am J Cardiol 1993;72:247–54.
- Hoff JA, Chomka EV, Krainik AJ, et al. Age and gender distributions of coronary artery calcium detected by electron beam tomography in 35,246 adults. Am J Cardiol 2001;87:1335–9.
- Raggi P, Shaw LJ, Berman DS, Callister TQ. Gender-based differences in the prognostic value of coronary calcification. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2004;13:273-83.
- Cooper R, Cutler J, Svigne-Nickens P, et al. Trends and disparities in coronary heart disease, stroke, and other cardiovascular diseases in the United States: findings of the national conference on cardiovascular disease prevention. Circulation 2000;102:3137–47.
- Yancy CW, Benjamin EJ, Fabunmi RP, Bonow RO. Discovering the full spectrum of cardiovascular disease: Minority Health Summit 2003: executive summary. Circulation 2005;111:1339–49.
- Bild DE, Bluemke DA, Burke GL, et al. Multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis: objectives and design. Am J Epidemiol 2002;156: 871–81.
- McClelland RL, Chung H, Detrano R, Post W, Kronmal RA. Distribution of coronary artery calcium by race, gender, and age: results from the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). Circulation 2006;113:30–7.
- Lee TC, O'Malley PG, Feuerstein I, Taylor AJ. The prevalence and severity of coronary artery calcification on coronary artery computed tomography in black and white subjects. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003; 41:39–44.
- Budoff MJ, Nasir K, Mao S, et al. Ethnic differences of the presence and severity of coronary atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis 2005.
- Newman ÁB, Naydeck BL, Whittle J, et al. Racial differences in coronary artery calcification in older adults. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2002;22:424–30.
- Budoff MJ, Yang TP, Shavelle RM, Lamont DH, Brundage BH. Ethnic differences in coronary atherosclerosis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2002;39:408-12.
- 90. Sekikawa A, Ueshima H, Zaky WR, et al. Much lower prevalence of coronary calcium detected by electron-beam computed tomography among men aged 40–49 in Japan than in the US, despite a less favorable profile of major risk factors. Int J Epidemiol 2005;34:173–9.
- Jain T, Peshock R, McGuire DK, et al. African Americans and Caucasians have a similar prevalence of coronary calcium in the Dallas Heart Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004;44:1011–7.
- 92. Bild DE, Folsom AR, Lowe LP, et al. Prevalence and correlates of coronary calcification in black and white young adults: the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2001;21:852–7.
- Khurana C, Rosenbaum CG, Howard BV, et al. Coronary artery calcification in black women and white women. Am Heart J 2003; 145:724–9.
- D'Agostino RB Sr., Grundy S, Sullivan LM, Wilson P. Validation of the Framingham coronary heart disease prediction scores: results of a multiple ethnic groups investigation. JAMA 2001;286: 180-7.
- 95. Sarnak MJ, Levey AS, Schoolwerth AC, et al. Kidney disease as a risk factor for development of cardiovascular disease: a statement from the American Heart Association Councils on Kidney in Cardiovascular Disease, High Blood Pressure Research, Clinical Cardiology, and Epidemiology and Prevention. Circulation 2003; 108:2154–69.
- Goodman WG, Goldin J, Kuizon BD, et al. Coronary-artery calcification in young adults with end-stage renal disease who are undergoing dialysis. N Engl J Med 2000;342:1478–83.

- Oh J, Wunsch R, Turzer M, et al. Advanced coronary and carotid arteriopathy in young adults with childhood-onset chronic renal failure. Circulation 2002;106:100–5.
- Raggi P, Boulay A, Chasan-Taber S, et al. Cardiac calcification in adult hemodialysis patients. A link between end-stage renal disease and cardiovascular disease? J Am Coll Cardiol 2002;39:695–701.
- McCullough PA, Sandberg KR, Dumler F, Yanez JE. Determinants of coronary vascular calcification in patients with chronic kidney disease and end-stage renal disease: a systematic review. J Nephrol 2004;17:205–15.
- 100. Asmus HG, Braun J, Krause R, et al. Two year comparison of sevelamer and calcium carbonate effects on cardiovascular calcification and bone density. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2005;20: 1653-61.
- Braun J, Asmus HG, Holzer H, et al. Long-term comparison of a calcium-free phosphate binder and calcium carbonate—phosphorus metabolism and cardiovascular calcification. Clin Nephrol 2004;62: 104–15.
- 102. Moe SM, O'Neill KD, Duan D, et al. Medial artery calcification in ESRD patients is associated with deposition of bone matrix proteins. Kidney Int 2002;61:638–47.
- Matsuoka M, Iseki K, Tamashiro M, et al. Impact of high coronary artery calcification score (CACS) on survival in patients on chronic hemodialysis. Clin Exp Nephrol 2004;8:54–8.
- 104. Haydar AA, Hujairi NM, Covic AA, et al. Coronary artery calcification is related to coronary atherosclerosis in chronic renal disease patients: a study comparing EBCT-generated coronary artery calcium scores and coronary angiography. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2004;19:2307–12.
- 105. Sharples EJ, Pereira D, Summers S, et al. Coronary artery calcification measured with electron-beam computerized tomography correlates poorly with coronary artery angiography in dialysis patients. Am J Kidney Dis 2004;43:313–9.
- Raggi P, Shaw LJ, Berman DS, Callister TQ. Prognostic value of coronary artery calcium screening in subjects with and without diabetes. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004;43:1663–9.
- 107. Khaleeli E, Peters SR, Bobrowsky K, et al. Diabetes and the associated incidence of subclinical atherosclerosis and coronary artery disease: implications for management. Am Heart J 2001; 141:637-44.
- Hoff JA, Quinn L, Sevrukov A, et al. The prevalence of coronary artery calcium among diabetic individuals without known coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003;41:1008–12.
- Schurgin S, Rich S, Mazzone T. Increased prevalence of significant coronary artery calcification in patients with diabetes. Diabetes Care 2001;24:335–8.
- Qu W, Le TT, Azen SP, et al. Value of coronary artery calcium scanning by computed tomography for predicting coronary heart disease in diabetic subjects. Diabetes Care 2003;26:905–10.
- Reaven PD, Sacks J. Coronary artery and abdominal aortic calcification are associated with cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia 2005;48:379–85.
- 112. Anand DV, Lim E, Hopkins D, et al. Risk stratification in uncomplicated type 2 diabetes: prospective evaluation of the combined use of coronary artery calcium imaging and selective myocardial perfusion scintigraphy. Eur Heart J 2006;27:713–21.
- Horton KM, Post WS, Blumenthal RS, Fishman EK. Prevalence of significant noncardiac findings on electron-beam computed tomography coronary artery calcium screening examinations. Circulation 2002;106:532–4.
- 114. Elgin EE, OMalley PG, Feuerstein I, Taylor AJ. Frequency and severity of "incidentalomas" encountered during electron beam computed tomography for coronary calcium in middle-aged army personnel. Am J Cardiol 2002;90:543–5.
- MacMahon H, Austin JH, Gamsu G, et al. Guidelines for management of small pulmonary nodules detected on CT scans: a statement from the Fleischner Society. Radiology 2005;237:395–400.

APPENDIX 1. WRITING COMMITTEE RELATIONSHIPS WITH INDUSTRY—ACCF/AHA 2007 CLINICAL EXPERT CONSENSUS DOCUMENT ON CORONARY ARTERY CALCIUM SCORING BY COMPUTED TOMOGRAPHY IN GLOBAL CARDIOVASCULAR RISK ASSESSMENT AND IN EVALUATION OF PATIENTS WITH CHEST PAIN

			Scientific Advisory	Speakers'	Steering	Stock	
Name	Consultant	Research Grant	Board	Bureau	Committee	Holder	Other
Dr. Philip Greenland (Chair)	None	None	None	None	None	None	
Dr. Robert O. Bonow	None	None	None	None	None	None	
Dr. Bruce H. Brundage	None	None	None	None	None	None	
Dr. Matthew J. Budoff	None	None	None	General Electric	None	None	
Dr. Mark J. Eisenberg	None	None	None	None	None	None	
Dr. Scott M. Grundy	None	None	None	None	None	None	
Dr. Michael S. Lauer	None	None	None	None	None	None	
Dr. Wendy S. Post	None	• Novartis • Pfizer • Merck	None	None	None	None	• Honoraria: Merck, Pfizer, Wyeth
Dr. Paolo Raggi	None	None	None	None	None	None	
Dr. Rita F. Redberg	None	None	None	None	None	None	
Dr. George P. Rodgers	Biophysical	None	Scientific Advisory Council	None	None	• Biophysical	
Dr. Leslee J. Shaw	None	General Electric/ Amersham	None	None	None	None	
Dr. Allen J. Taylor	None	None	None	None	None	None	
Dr. William S. Weintraub	None	None	None	None	None	None	

This table represents the relationships of committee members with industry that were reported orally at the initial writing committee meeting and updated in conjunction with all meetings and conference calls of the writing committee during the document development process. It does not necessarily reflect relationships with industry at the time of publication.

APPENDIX 2. PEER REVIEWER RELATIONSHIPS WITH INDUSTRY—ACCF/AHA 2007 CLINICAL EXPERT CONSENSUS DOCUMENT ON CORONARY ARTERY CALCIUM SCORING BY COMPUTED TOMOGRAPHY IN GLOBAL CARDIOVASCULAR RISK ASSESSMENT AND IN EVALUATION OF PATIENTS WITH CHEST PAIN

				Scientific				
Name	Representation	Consultant	Research Grant	Advisory Board	Speakers' Bureau	Steering Committee	Stock Holder	Other
Dr. John R. Crouse, III	Official Reviewer— AHA	None	None	None	None	None	None	None
Dr. Kim A. Eagle	Official Reviewer— ACCF Board of Trustees	 Robert Wood Johnson Foundation Sanofi-Aventis NHBLI 	 Pfizer NIH Bristol-Myers Squibb Biosite Cardiac Sciences Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan 	None	None	None	None	None
Dr. Kendrick Shunk	Official Reviewer— AHA	None	None	None	None	None	None	None
Dr. Richard F. Wright	Official Reviewer— ACCF Board of Governors	None	None	None	None	None	None	None
Dr. Daniel S. Berman	Content Reviewer— Individual Reviewer	Tyco- Mallinckroot	• Bristol-Myers Squibb • Astellas • General Electric	Spectrum Dynamics	None	None	 Spectrum Dynamics 	 Software royalties
Dr. John J. Carr	Content Reviewer— Individual Reviewer	None	None	None	None	None	None	None
Dr. Daniel Edmundowicz	Content Reviewer— Individual Reviewer	None	None	None	None	None	None	None
Dr. Robert Detrano	Content Reviewer— Individual Reviewer	None	None	None	None	None	None	None
Dr. Victor A. Ferrari	Content Reviewer— Individual Reviewer	None	GlaxoSmithKline Novartis	None	None	None	None	None
Dr. Thomas C. Gerber	• Content Reviewer—AHA Cardiac Imaging Committee	None	None	None	None	None	None	None
Dr. Maleah Grover McKay	• Content Reviewer—ACCF Imaging Committee	None	None	None	None	None	None	None
Dr. George T. Kondos	Content Reviewer— Individual Reviewer	None	None	None	None	None	None	 Hainchak Anin
Dr. Joao A. Lima	Content Reviewer— Individual Reviewer	None	• Toshiba • General Electric/ Amersham	None	• Toshiba • General Electric/Amersham	None	None	None
Dr. Christopher M. Kramer	Content Reviewer—ACCF Imaging Committee	GE Healthcare	• Astellas • Novartis	None	GE Healthcare	None	None	Research Report: Siemens Medical Solutions

Name	Representation	Consultant	Research Grant	Scientific Advisory Board	Speakers' Bureau	Steering Committee	Stock Holder	Other
Dr. Chris O'Donnell	 Content Reviewer— Individual Reviewer 	None	None	None	None	None	None	None
Dr. Kim Allan Williams	Content Reviewer—ACCF Imaging Committee	GE Healthcare	• Bristol-Myers Squibb • CV Therapeutics	• GE Healthcare	GE Healthcare Astellas	None	None	None

This table represents the relationships of committee members with industry that were reported by the authors as relevant to this topic. It does not necessarily reflect relationships with industry at the time of publication. Participation in the peer review process does not imply endorsement of the document. Names are listed in alphabetical order within each category of review.





ACCF/AHA 2007 Clinical Expert Consensus Document on Coronary Artery Calcium Scoring by Computed Tomography in Global Cardiovascular Risk Assessment and in Evaluation of Patients With Chest Pain

Circulation. 2007;115:402-426; originally published online January 12, 2007; doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA..107.181425 Circulation is published by the American Heart Association, 7272 Greenville Avenue, Dallas, TX 75231 Copyright © 2007 American Heart Association, Inc. All rights reserved. Print ISSN: 0009-7322. Online ISSN: 1524-4539

The online version of this article, along with updated information and services, is located on the World Wide Web at: http://circ.ahajournals.org/content/115/3/402.citation

Permissions: Requests for permissions to reproduce figures, tables, or portions of articles originally published in *Circulation* can be obtained via RightsLink, a service of the Copyright Clearance Center, not the Editorial Office. Once the online version of the published article for which permission is being requested is located, click Request Permissions in the middle column of the Web page under Services. Further information about this process is available in the Permissions and Rights Question and Answer document.

Reprints: Information about reprints can be found online at: http://www.lww.com/reprints

Subscriptions: Information about subscribing to *Circulation* is online at: http://circ.ahajournals.org//subscriptions/